
 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

Torbay Local Access Forum Meeting 

to be held in public on Thursday, 12 September 2013 

6.00  - 8.00 pm in Meeting Room 10, Paignton Library,  

Great Western Road, Paignton, TQ4 5AG 

 
 

If you are unable to attend this meeting please inform the TLAF Secretary.  
Telephone: (01803) 207064   E-mail: torbaylaf@torbay.gov.uk  

 

The meeting will be open to the public in accordance with the provision of Regulation 7 of the LAF 

(England) Regulations 2002  

(under Sections 94 + 95 of the CROW Act 2000) 

 

 

Agenda 
   

1. Apologies - to receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

2. Election of Chair 

 

 

3. Declaration of Interests - to declare any interests on matters on the 
agenda. 

 

 

4. • Appointments Vice-Chairman 

• Co-ordinators 

 

 

5. Minutes - to receive the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 
2013. 

 

(Pages 1 - 3) 

6. Matters arising not shown on the Agenda 

 

 

7. Updates from Area Co-ordinators 
 

 

8. Annual Report 2012-13 
 

(Pages 4 - 8) 

9. Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: The national 
survey on people and the natural environment 
 

(Pages 9 - 92) 

10. • Update from Regional Local Access Forum Chair's Meeting 
Paths for Communities 

• CAP Reform 

• National Trails Update 

• Local Access Forum National Survey Results (attached) 

• South West Local Access Forum Action Plan and 
Engagement Plans 

 

(Pages 93 - 103) 



Page 2 of 2 

11. Discussion - How to consider planning applications and co-ordinate 
responses. 
 
In response to minute 69 a discussion will be held on ‘how to 
consider planning applications and co-ordinate responses’.  
Attached is guidance from another local authority and a guidance 
note from a Rights of Way Review Committee. 

 

(Pages 104 - 124) 

12. Events - South West Regional Conference. 
 

 

13. Communications - Using Huddle. 
 

 

14. Any Other Business 
 

 

15. Date/Time/Venue of Next Meetings: 
 
Thursday 14 November 2013, 6 pm, Meeting Room 10, Paignton 
Library 
Thursday 20 February 2014, 6 pm, Meeting Room 10, Paignton 
Library 
Thursday 15 May 2014, 6 pm, Meeting Room 10, Paignton Library 
Thursday 4 September 2014, 6 pm, Meeting Room 10, Paignton 
Library 
 

 

 

 

Membership 
 

Robert Boyd, Brixham Co-Ordinator/Access for 

the Disabled Lead 

Phil Collins (Chairman) 

Councillor Ian Doggett 

Margaret Forbes-Hamilton, Parks, Green 

Spaces, heritage/Torquay Co-

Ordinator/Environment Lead 

Bob Harvey, Land Owner 

 

Wanda Hollingworth, Paignton Co-

Ordinator/Health and Recreation Lead 

Mick Lear, Walking/Brixham Co-

Ordinator/Coastal Lead 

Elaine Mason, Walking/Bay Walks 

Alan Robinson, Walking 

John Mellor, Walking/Vice-Chairperson 

 



 
 

Minutes of the Local Access Forum 

 

9 May 2013 

 

-: Present :- 

 

Phil Collins (Chairman), Councillor Ian Doggett, Margaret Forbes-Hamilton, Bob Harvey, Mick 

Lear, Alan Robinson and John Mellor 

 

(Also in attendance: James Nicholas (Torbay Council) and James Law (Torbay Coast and 

Countryside Trust))  

 

 

 

76. Apologies  

 

Apologies were received from Elaine Mason, Robert Boyd and Wanda Hollingworth. 

 

77. Minutes  

 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2012 were accepted and agreed 
as an accurate report of the meeting. 

 

78. Matters arising not shown on the Agenda  

 

• Members requested investigations as to whether other LAFs have a 
standard framework when considering planning applications. 

• The Chairman advised that Hilary Winters would be willing to undertake a 
development session.  Members welcomed the offer and expressed a 
preference for Wednesday evenings with the session being an interactive 
visit possibly to Maidencombe or Brunel Woods. 

• Bob Harvey provided an update on the Ash tree die back situation and 
advised that there hadn’t been any reported incidents of Ash die back in wild 
areas of Devon. 

 

79. Updates from Area Co-ordinators  

 

Brixham Co-ordinator 
 
Mick Lear 

• Currently no issues. 
 

Torquay Co-ordinator 
 
Margaret Forbes-Hamilton 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Local Access Forum  Thursday, 9 May 2013 

 

 

• Advised that a footpath at Torre Abbey Meadows had been widened in 
contradiction to the restoration plan for Torre Abbey. 

 
Paignton Co-ordinator 
 
Ian Doggett 

• Requested an update on the right of way that had been closed at Oldway 
Mansion. 
 
James Nicholas advised that the Oldway Mansion path that had been closed 
was not a registered right of way.  James also advised of other rights of way 
applications that had been submitted such as Queensway Road through the 
Grammar School to Hawkins Avenue. 
 

Outside of Torbay 
 
Bob Harvey 

• Circulated literature from ‘Torbay’s Urban Forest’ conference which was held on 
1 March 2013. 

• Bob was working with Plymouth Local Access Forum to see if they would be 
interested in a joint meeting with Steve Jenkinson from the Kennel Club. 

 

80. Proposed Disposal of Three Open Areas of Council Land  

 

The Forum considered three open areas of Council Land which had been proposed 
for disposal.  The areas of land were: 
 

• Land adjacent to 4 Plym Close, Torquay; 

• Land adjacent to 45 Stanley Garden, Paignton; and 

• Land off Alpine Road, disused playground, Torquay. 
 
Members raised no objection to the disposal of the three areas of land as there 
were no explicit access issues and the steps and paths were being retained at the 
Alpine Road site. 
 
Action: A letter to be drafted, to this affect, with the content being agreed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

 

81. Planning Consultation - Land at Churston Golf Course/Churston Golf Club, North East of 

Bascombe Road Opposite the Northern End of Bridge Road, Churston, Brixham  

 

Members considered a planning application in respect of Land at Churston Golf 
Course.  Members raised objections to the application on the grounds of: 
 

• changes to access and possible interference with existing rights of way; 

• the development would impact upon the enjoyment of the access; 

• the affect the landscape quality and natural beauty of the area; and 

• the affect on land management, due to potential loss of agricultural land. 
 

Page 2



Local Access Forum  Thursday, 9 May 2013 

 

 
Action: Mick Lear to draft a response which will be circulated to all LAF members 
for comment and signed by the Chairman. 

 

82. Planning Consultation - Former Finance Building, Torbay Hospital Annexe, 187 Newton 

Road, Torquay  

 

The Forum had no objection to the submitted application. 

 

83. TLAF Information Sharing  

 

Members noted the information sharing sheet and agreed to receive the information 
on a monthly basis via email. 

 

84. Change to Natural England Local Contact  

 

The Forum noted that Jane Yates had become the Forum’s Natural England local 
contact and requested their thanks be conveyed to Dot Isgrove. 
 
Action: Secretary to invite Jane Yates to the next meeting of the Local Access 
Forum. 

 

85. Any Other Business  

 

i) Frequency and timing of meetings: members agreed the LAF would continue to 
meet on a quarterly basis, on Thursday’s at 6 p.m. 

 
ii) Coastal Paths: James Law of Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust advised that 

surveys of the coastal path were undertaken every three months.  The main 
issue was uneven footpaths between Wars Hill and the Palace Hotel.  James 
futher advised that the section of coastal path at Oddicombe would be diverted. 

 

86. Date/Time/Venue of Next Meetings  

 

The Forum noted the date of the next meeting: 
 
Thursday, 12 September 2013, 6.00 p.m. at Paignton Library.  

 

Page 3



Local Access Forum (LAF) Annual Review Form: April 2012 to March 2013 

 

Page 1 of 5 

Name of LAF:  Torbay Local Access Forum - due to the TLAF meeting schedule this report 
covers activity from September 2012 to August 2013 

Name of LAF Chair:  Phil Collins 

Name of LAF Secretary:  Lisa Antrobus 

Number of LAF members:  10 

 
1 - Involvement and Representation 
 
What interests does your current membership cover?  Walking, access for disabled, land 
owner, recreation and health. 

What skills, sectors, interest groups, experience are missing?  No 

Describe any difficulties you had recruiting members from particular sectors:  We do not 
have many landowners in Torbay so it can sometimes be difficult to recruit to this sector. 

 
2 - Operation of LAF 
 
What procedures (e.g. expense claims, new applications etc) do you follow that help you 
work effectively? Are these effective?  Torbay Local Access Form Terms of Reference 

How do you ensure that your members are able to work as a team?  Please see page 3 of 
Torbay Local Access Forum Terms of Reference 

In what ways do you reach consensus?  Please see page 3 of Torbay Local Access Forum 
Terms of Reference 

How do you ensure proper conduct and/or resolve any conflicts?  Please see page 3 of 
Torbay Local Access Forum Terms of Reference 

Give up to 3 examples of where you have encountered operational difficulties (e.g. lack of 
resources); explain what mechanisms could be put in place to alleviate such issues: 

1 -  LAF to provide comments 

2 -        

3 -        

 
3 - Partnership and Progress 
 
Do you work well with the access authority? If not, why not?  LAF to provide comments 

Do you work well with your planning authorities? If not, why not?  The Secretary is copied 
into planning consultations where there may be public access issues these are then 
circulated to the Members of the LAF to see if they wish to make a statutory response or are 
considered at the LAF meetings. 

Have you established a clear role for the LAF in the local area?  They are a statutory 
consultee on issues relating to land access, open space and rights of way 

Were you successful in meeting the achievements set out in your work programme (please 
provide supporting information)?        

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 4



Local Access Forum (LAF) Annual Review Form: April 2012 to March 2013 

 

Page 2 of 5 

1. Balance membership by increasing the number of land owners - there were no vacant 
seats on the LAF so this has not been progressed, however, one of the LAF members is 
standing down later this year and we will attempt to recruit a landowner to replace them. 

 

2. Co-ordinating with other groups and organisations - LAF to provide comments about how 
successful this has been 

Have you achieved something else?  LAF to provide comments 

Main or notable achievements?  LAF to provide comments 

 
4 - Profile and Direction 
 
Has anything changed over the last year?  LAF to provide comments 

What changes / barriers can you see ahead?  LAF to provide comments 

What are your priorities for the year ahead (list up to 3)? 

1 -  LAF to provide comments 

2 -        

3 -        

What support or training do you need to deliver your priorities?  LAF to provide comments 

 
5 - Section 94 Bodies 
 
Give up to 3 examples of advice given by your LAF to section 94 bodies: 

1 -  Consultation regarding the proposed disposal of three areas of Council Land: 

 

Land adj. 4 Plym Close, Torquay; 

Land adj. 45 Stanley Gardens, Paignton; and 

Land off Alpine Road, disused playground, Torquay. 

 

This letter constitutes formal advice from Torbay Local Access Forum.  Torbay Council is 
required, in accordance with section 94(5) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, to 
have regard to relevant advice from this forum in carrying out its functions. 

 

In considering the three areas for disposal, Members noted that there did not appear to be 
any explicit access issues but welcomed the retention of the steps and path at Land off 
Alpine Road, disused playground, Torquay.  Therefore the Members of Torbay Local Access 
Forum have no objection to the proposed disposal of the three areas set out above. 

2 -  Consultation regarding “A Landscape for Success – The Plan for Torbay to 2032 and 
beyond” Development Plan Document – new Torbay Local plan 

 

Page 5



Local Access Forum (LAF) Annual Review Form: April 2012 to March 2013 

 

Page 3 of 5 

This letter constitutes formal advice from Torbay Local Access Forum.  Torbay Council is 
required, in accordance with section 94(5) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, to 
have regard to relevant advice from this forum in carrying out its functions. 

 

• A member of the TLAF, a wheelchair user and a coordinator for the Brixham region 
would ask that access issues for disabled people are fully considered in all public planning.  

• Pavements and pathways are kept clear of unnecessary obstructions.  

• On cycle routes if barriers are included then sufficient space is allowed for 
wheelchairs and electric scooters to pass through. Scooters often need a wider turning 
space to swing through.  

• If 'kissing gates' are necessary then they are the modern metal type which can be 
opened with a radar key to allow wheelchairs and scooters to pass through. Wooden kissing 
gates are often too small for scooters and that hampers enjoyment of the countryside.  

• In Brixham there are three old kissing gates that prevent access to public pathways.  

• I, Robert Boyd TLAF Board Member and colleagues from the ACE charity at Brixham 
College are available and willing to assist in planning design for disability requirements. 

• Will Torbay Council explain what plans it has to implement the recommendations of 
NHS National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) Guidance 41 : Walking and 
Cycling : local measures to promote walking and cycling as forms of travel or recreation. 

• Also, how it proposes to involve the Torbay Local Access Forum which has a 
statutory function to advise the Council in this respect. 

3 -  Development to form 54 sheltered apartments for the elderly including communal 
facilities (Category II type accommodation), access, car parking and landscaping.  The 
Torbay Local Access Forum are concerned about the mature trees lining Blatchcombe 
Road, opposite Baymount and Redburn Roads.  There are several fine specimens there 
which “house” birdlife, and would not like to see them cut down.  The TLAF would like to see 
a preservation order put on the trees as a condition of development. 

 
6 - Open Access Work 
 
How many Restriction Cases have you been consulted on?  0 

How many cases have you responded to?  0 

Detail any informal involvement with Open Access Restriction cases:  None 

 
7 - Number of consultations, meetings and initiatives your LAF has been involved with 
over the year (please add numbers into the boxes below)? 
 

Public meetings 3 Working groups 0 

Training days 0 Definitive map modification orders 0 

Highway orders 0 Green Infrastructure strategies 0 

Page 6



Local Access Forum (LAF) Annual Review Form: April 2012 to March 2013 

 

Page 4 of 5 

Gating orders 0 
Local transport plans and traffic 
management schemes 

0 

Cycle projects 1 Disabled access 0 

Dog exclusion/on leads/fouling orders 0 Housing development schemes 0 

Planning applications 8 PROW network and projects 0 

ROWIP planning and objectives 0 
Local development frameworks and 
planning strategies 

1 

Local Nature Partnerships 0 Recording of paths and promoting use 2 

Expiring permissive agreements under 
Higher Level Stewardship schemes - 
assessing the value and future of and 
liaison with landowners to improve 
access 

0 
Flood defence works  - Environment 
Agency consultations and planning 
applications regarding  

0 

Slipways and landing stages - public 
access to 

0 
Improvement of access through the 
Paths for Communities (P4C) scheme 

0 

Disposal and development of land owned 
by the Council 

3 
Parish Council or local improvement 
grant schemes 

0 

Shoreline management plans 0 
Rail freight interchange strategic 
development 

0 

Network rail and rail crossing closures 0 Access and nature conservation 0 

Horse routes and equestrian provision 0 Multi user routes 0 

National Parks 0 Coastal access 0 

Motorised vehicle access 0 Access to MOD land 0 

New town & village green registration 
government consultation 

0 Natural England consultations 0 

Defra consultations 0 Commons grazing proposals 0 

Highways Agency consultations 0 Department for Transport consultations 0 

Page 7



Local Access Forum (LAF) Annual Review Form: April 2012 to March 2013 

 

Page 5 of 5 

Other (please specify):        

 
 
8 - Final comments from Appointing Authority:  The Torbay Local Access Forum (TLAF) 
has continued to provide a voice for the people of Torbay by considering issues affecting 
public access to land and making statutory representations where relevant.   

 

Often the deadlines for consultations coming from the Council do not fit in with the dates of 
the meetings and they are therefore circulated electronically for comment, which is signed off 
by the Chairman on behalf of the LAF.  This can mean that the agendas can sometimes only 
have a few items.  Consideration could be given to reducing the number of meetings of the 
TLAF and some of the members of the TLAF meeting as a working group to consider 
consutlations and make recommendations to the full TLAF electronically for sign off by the 
Chairman. 

 

There have been no changes to the membership of the TLAF over the past year, although 
one of our members is standing down later this year. 

 
9 - Final comments from LAF Chair:  Phil to complete 

Page 8



 

 

Natural England Commissioned Report NECR122 

Monitor of Engagement with 
the Natural Environment: The 
national survey on people and 
the natural environment 

Annual Report from the 2012-13 survey 

 

 

www.naturalengland.org.uk 

First published 30 July 2013 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 9



Page 10



 

 

Foreword 
Natural England commission a range of reports from external contractors to 
provide evidence and advice to assist us in delivering our duties. The views in this 
report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of Natural 
England.   

Background  
In 2009 Natural England, Defra and the Forestry 
Commission commissioned TNS to undertake the 
Monitor of Engagement with the Natural 
Environment (MENE) survey.  

In the four years since MENE was commissioned a 
wealth of information has been collected regarding 
visits taken to the natural environment and related 
behaviours and attitudes.  

The survey is commissioned in order to: 

· Understand how people use, enjoy and are 
motivated to protect the natural environment. 

· Provide data that monitors changes in use and 
enjoyment of the natural environment over time, at 
a range of different spatial scales and for key 
groups within the population. 

How do Natural England and partners use 
the findings? 

In relation to its remit for promoting public 
understanding, conservation and enjoyment of the 
natural environment, Natural England and its 
partners use the findings to: 

· Inform their work, and that of other interested 
parties, to link it more closely to need. 

· Evaluate the impact and effectiveness of this work. 

· Measure the impact of and inform policy relating to 
the natural environment.  

This annual report presents the headline findings for 
the fourth year of fieldwork from March 2012 to 
February 2013.  

Published alongside this report are: 

· A technical report providing full details of the 
survey methodology, sampling, grossing and 
weighting and estimates of confidence intervals. 

· Electronic data table viewer: an interactive tool 
which allows detailed analysis of the MENE 
dataset. 

A number of further reports including the year one, 
two and three annual reports and the results of 
additional analyses of the MENE data are available 
from the Natural England website 
(www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/research/m
ene.aspx#results). 

Official Statistics 

The information within this report is categorised as 
‘Official Statistics’, and has been produced and 
published according to arrangements approved by 
the UK Statistics Authority. A document detailing 
Natural England’s compliance with the Code of 
Practice for Official Statistics is available separately 
on the Natural England website. 
 

 

 

Natural England Project Manager - Erica Wayman erica.wayman@naturalengland.org.uk 

Contractor - Duncan Stewart, TNS, 23 Alva Street, Edinburgh EH2 4PS 

Keywords - visits, engagement, natural environment, participation, motivations, barriers, activities,   
expenditure 

Further information 
For further information relating to the statistics in this report contact stephen.herbert@naturalengland.org.uk 
This report can be downloaded from the Natural England website: 
www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/enjoying/research/monitor. For information on Natural England 
publications contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0845 600 3078 or e-mail 
MENE@naturalengland.org.uk. 

This report is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence - OGLv2.0 for public sector 
information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the 
licence visit www.naturalengland.org.uk/copyright. Natural England photographs are only available for non 

commercial purposes. If any other information such as maps or data cannot be used commercially this will be made 
clear within the report. 

ISBN 978-1-78354-031-0 
© Natural England and other parties 2013

Page 11



Page 12



 

i Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Executive Summary 

This report summarises the headline findings from the fourth year of the Monitor of Engagement 
with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey. The survey was undertaken by TNS on behalf of 
Natural England, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) and the Forestry 
Commission.  

The survey collects detailed information on the public’s use and enjoyment of the natural 
environment, with particular emphasis on visits to the outdoors. For the purposes of this survey, 
the natural environment is defined as the green open spaces in and around towns and cities, as 
well as the wider countryside and coastline.  

Fieldwork took place between March 2012 and February 2013. Where appropriate, comparisons 
have been made with the third year of the survey undertaken between March 2011 and February 
2012 and with previous year’s survey data where appropriate. 

Throughout this report, the following terminology is used to describe the timings of survey 
fieldwork: 

· 2009/10, also written as “year one”, refers to the period March 2009 to February 2010. 

· 2010/11, also written as “year two”, refers to the period March 2010 to February 2011. 

· 2011/12, also written as “year three”, refers to the period March 2011 to February 2012. 

· 2012/13, also written as “year four”, refers to the period March 2012 to February 2013. 

Please note that any trends or variations between results highlighted in the text are statistically 
significant unless stated otherwise. This means that differences between results, for example when 
comparing two years or two population groups, are likely to be real differences at the 95 per cent 
confidence limits, as opposed to differences which are the result of sampling error or chance.  

An overview of visits to the natural environment (see Section 2 for more details): 

· Between March 2012 and February 2013, an average of 41 per cent of the English 
adult population visited the natural environment during the previous seven days. The 
proportion visiting the outdoors in the last seven days has remained at around two-fifths 
of the population since 2009/10. 

· It is estimated that the average annual number of visits taken per adult during March 
2012 to February 2013 was 67. This was significantly higher than the average of 60 
recorded in 2010/11 but significantly lower than the 2009/10 average of 69. 

· The English adult population participated in an estimated 2.85 billion visits to the natural 
environment between March 2012 and February 2013. While this estimate is higher 
than the estimated 2.49 billion visits taken in 2010/11 it is not significantly different to 
the volumes recorded in the other survey years. 

· During the first two years of the survey, there was a significant seasonal variation in 
volumes of visits with the lowest volumes taken between December 2009 and February 
2010 and December 2010 and February 2011. However in the more recent two years, 
seasonal variation has been much less apparent.   

Who? A profile of people that do and don’t visit (see Section 3 for more details): 

· Overall levels of participation in visits over the previous seven days were significantly 
higher amongst people aged 25 to 64, those in employment, those living in rural areas 
and those in the AB socio-economic groups1. 

 
1
 For further explanation of the socio-economic groups referred to in this report, see Appendix 3 

Page 13



ii 

· Conversely, overall levels of participation were significantly lower amongst those aged 
65 and over, members of the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population, those living 
in urban areas and members of the DE socio-economic groups. 

· In terms of place of residence, people living in the areas of greatest deprivation were 
least likely to have visited the natural environment in the previous seven days, whilst 
those living in the least deprived areas were significantly more likely to have made a 
visit. 

· By region, levels of visits were highest in the South West, where almost half of the 
population had visited in the previous seven days across the year. In contrast, visits 
were lowest in London - where just under a third had visited over the previous seven 
days. 

· During the four years of the survey, levels of visit participation have varied most 
amongst those groups who generally take fewer visits. Most notably participation by 
people in the DE socio-economic groups, those living in areas of greatest deprivation, 
members of the BAME population, those between the ages of 16 and 24 and those with 
no access to a car decreased significantly between the first and second years of the 
survey before showing some recovery during the third and fourth years. 

Where? The destination of visits (see Section 4 for more details): 

· In total, 47 per cent of visits to the natural environment were taken to the countryside, 
43 per cent were to green spaces within towns and cities while ten per cent were taken 
in coastal locations.  

· The proportion of visits to the countryside significantly decreased from 52 per cent of all 
visits in 2011/12 to 47 per cent in 2012/13. Conversely, the proportion of visits to green 
spaces within towns and cities increased significantly from 38 per cent of all visits in 
2011/12 to 43 per cent in 2012/13.  

· More specifically, volumes of visits to urban parks increased significantly between 
2011/12 and 2012/13. This increase in visits to urban parks made a considerable 
contribution to the overall increase in the volumes of visits taken in English towns and 
cities over this period. 

· In total, 43 per cent of visits were taken to green spaces within towns and cities but for 
certain groups this type of place was more important. 82 per cent of visits taken by the 
BAME population were to this type of place, as were 66 per cent of the visits taken by 
those living in the most deprived neighbourhoods, 61 per cent of those taken by 16 to 
24 year olds and 50 per cent of those taken by members of the DE socio-economic 
group. 

· 66 per cent of all visits were taken within two miles of home, highlighting the importance 
of accessible local green space. This finding is consistent with that from previous MENE 
surveys. 

· 45 per cent of visits to seaside/ coastal destinations involved travelling by car, while the 
majority of countryside and urban visits were taken on foot. 

What? A profile of visits (see Section 5 for more details): 

· Walking remained the most popular activity, undertaken on 76 per cent of all visits, or 
approximately 2.2 billion visits overall. Half of all visits - approximately 1.4 billion visits 
were taken with dogs, while walking without a dog featured in around 769 million visits.  

· While the volume of visits significantly decreased for many of the activities between 
2009/10 and 2010/11 subsequent increases during 2011/12 and 2012/13 mean that 
there was a net growth in participation in some activities between years one and four of 
the survey.  

· 48 per cent of visits were taken by an adult on their own.  

· 20 per cent of visits were taken with children present which, when applied to the 2.85 
billion estimated outdoor visits, equates to around 568 million visits overall.  

Page 14



 

iii Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

· In total 27 per cent of visits incurred expenditure, with an average spend during these 
visits of around £27 per person.  

· An estimated £21 billion was spent during visits taken to the natural environment in the 
2012/13 period. The estimated total expenditure has not varied significantly over the 
four years of surveying, remaining in the range £17 billion to £21 billion. 

· The average visit to the natural environment lasted just over two hours (two hours 
seven minutes). This finding is not significantly different from that found in previous 
years of the survey. 

Why? Reasons for visiting and not visiting (see Section 6 for more details): 

· As in the previous three years, exercising dogs, personal health and exercise, relaxing 
and unwinding, enjoying fresh air and pleasant weather and enjoying scenery were the 
most frequently cited reasons for taking visits to the natural environment. 

· As a person gets older they are more likely to take visits for health or exercise, for fresh 
air or pleasant weather, to enjoy scenery, and to enjoy wildlife. 

· Between 2011/12 and 2012/13 the proportions of visits taken where the motivation was 
for health or exercise significantly increased from 37 per cent to 44 per cent. 

· Visits to the natural environment have been consistently shown to offer a number of 
benefits to those taking visits, with agreement particularly strong for outcomes such as 
enjoying visits, feeling calm and relaxed and/or refreshed and revitalised.  

· Those who had been on visits to mountain and moorland, woodland or the coast were 
more likely to indicate that they had experienced a positive outcome than those who had 
been on visits to green spaces in urban areas. 

· Infrequent visitors to the natural environment were most likely to cite being busy at work 
or poor weather as their main reasons for not being able to take visits to the natural 
environment more often. In 2012/13 there was a significant increase in the proportion of 
people citing bad weather, from five per cent in 2011/12 to 11 per cent in 2012/13, as a 
main reason for not visiting the natural environment. Also cost has increased in 
significance as a barrier over the four years of the survey from four per cent of 
respondents to seven per cent. 

Other engagement with the natural environment (see Section 7 for more details): 

· In addition to visits to outdoor places, MENE records other ways that people enjoy and 
appreciate the natural environment by asking about participation in other activities such 
as gardening and watching nature programmes. Relaxing in the garden, choosing to 
walk through parks/ green spaces en-route to other places and gardening were the 
most frequently undertaken of these activities.  

· Participation in these activities generally increased with age. Also, those in the AB 
socio-economic grouping, those living in the most affluent, those living in rural areas 
and those in paid employment were more likely than other people to have undertaken 
one or more of the activities asked about.  

· A general appreciation of natural places was evident with 48 per cent of the population 
strongly agreeing that it is important to have green spaces close to where they live and 
43 strongly agreeing that they are glad that natural places exist even if they never visit 
them. 

· Having green spaces close to home and spending time outdoors tends to be seen as 
more important for older people, retired people, those in the AB socio-economic group, 
and those of a White background. 

· There is a correlation between how frequently people visit the natural environment and 
their likelihood to appreciate it and be concerned about environmental damage. 
Frequency of visit taking is also correlated to frequency of participation in pro-
environmental behaviours such as recycling and preferring to buy seasonal and locally 

Page 15



iv 

grown food. These results are consistent with those recorded during previous survey 
years. 

· Respondents were also asked about the extent to which they were willing or able to 
change their current behaviour to address environmental concerns. Over the past four 
years, the proportion of the population unwilling to change their lifestyle has increased 
from 26 per cent to 32 per cent. 15 per cent of the population expressed an intention to 
make changes to their lifestyle in 2012/13, with younger members of the population 
most likely to indicate a willingness to alter their lifestyle. 

· In terms of pro-environmental behaviours, 78 per cent of the population said that they 
usually recycled items rather than throwing them away, while 43 per cent chose to walk 
or cycle instead of using a car. Furthermore, 39 per cent of people stated that they 
usually bought seasonal or locally grown food2. 

Acknowledgements 

The TNS project team would like to thank all the officers of Natural England who provided 
assistance in the administration and reporting of the fourth year of the Monitor of Engagement with 
the Natural Environment (MENE) survey. In particular, many thanks go to Hazel Thomas, Stephen 
Herbert and Erica Wayman for their support with the interpretation of the findings and steer of the 
project.

 
2
 See Figure 7-4 for the statement wording used for this question 

Page 16



 

v Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Contents 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................... i 

Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................... iv 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Survey aims and objectives ......................................................................................................... 1 

Survey scope .............................................................................................................................. 1 

Structure of the report.................................................................................................................. 2 

Further publications from the survey ............................................................................................ 3 

2 An overview of visits to the natural environment ................................................................ 4 

Frequency of visits ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Estimated volume of visits in the last year ................................................................................... 6 

Changes by quarter ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Regional distribution of visits ....................................................................................................... 8 

Resident-based distribution ...................................................................................................... 8 

Destination-based distribution ................................................................................................ 11 

3 Who? A profile of people that do and don’t visit ............................................................... 12 

Participation in visits in the last 12 months ................................................................................ 17 

4 Where? The destination of visits ........................................................................................ 24 

Type of place visited .................................................................................................................. 24 

General type of place visited .................................................................................................. 24 

Detailed type of place visited ................................................................................................. 26 

Distance travelled to main destination ....................................................................................... 27 

Mode of transport ...................................................................................................................... 30 

5 What? A profile of visits ...................................................................................................... 31 

Duration of visits ........................................................................................................................ 31 

Activities undertaken on visits .................................................................................................... 32 

Party composition ...................................................................................................................... 36 

Visits taken with children ........................................................................................................ 37 

Expenditure during visits ........................................................................................................... 40 

6 Why? Motivations and barriers ........................................................................................... 43 

Motivations for visits .................................................................................................................. 43 

Outcomes of visits ..................................................................................................................... 46 

Reasons for not visiting ............................................................................................................. 49 

7 Other engagement with the natural environment .............................................................. 52 

Other activities involving the natural environment ...................................................................... 52 

Attitudes to the natural environment .......................................................................................... 56 

Page 17



vi 

Pro-environmental behaviours ................................................................................................... 61 

 

Page 18



 

vii Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 Summary of survey scope and methods ............................................................... 63 

Survey scope ............................................................................................................................ 63 

Survey method .......................................................................................................................... 63 

Fieldwork ................................................................................................................................... 64 

Analysis ..................................................................................................................................... 64 

Presentation of results ............................................................................................................... 65 

Appendix 2 Accuracy of survey results .................................................................................... 66 

Appendix 3 Definitions of socio-economic groups .................................................................. 70 

Page 19



viii 

List of tables 
Table 2-1  Proportion of population visiting the natural environment in the last 12 months (%) ....... 6 

Table 2-2  Volume of visits by general place visited by survey year ................................................ 7 

Table 3-1  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by key demographics (% 
reporting at least one visit in the last week) ................................................................................... 15 

Table 3-2  Working status profile, long term illness or disability and children in household by 
frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) ................................................. 19 

Table 3-3  Ethnicity and Index of Multiple Deprivation by frequency of participation in visits to the 
natural environment (%) ................................................................................................................ 21 

Table 3-4  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by age, socio-economic group, 
working status and ethnicity .......................................................................................................... 23 

Table 4-1  Proportion of visits by general place visited by survey year (%) ................................... 25 

Table 4-2  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by detailed type of place ........... 27 

Table 5-1  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by activities undertaken ............ 34 

Table 5-2  Activities undertaken on visit by demographics (% of visits taken by each group 
including top four activities) ........................................................................................................... 35 

Table 5-3  Activities undertaken on visits by type of place visited (%) ........................................... 36 

Table 5-4  Party composition (row %) ........................................................................................... 37 

Table 5-5  Activities undertaken, distance travelled, mode of transport and type of place visited    
by presence of children in party (%) .............................................................................................. 39 

Table 6-1  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment by year (column %) ..................... 45 

Table 6-2  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment by type of place visited         
(column %).................................................................................................................................... 46 

Table 6-3  Outcomes of visits to the natural environment by place visited and visit motivations     
(% agreeing strongly with each statement).................................................................................... 48 

Table 6-4  Reasons for not visiting the natural environment more often by survey year (%) .......... 50 

Table 6-5  Reasons for not visiting the natural environment more often by demographics           
(row %) ......................................................................................................................................... 51 

Table 7-1  Participation in other activities involving the natural environment by age,  socio-
economic status, ethnicity, disability, Index of Multiple Deprivation, children in household (%) ..... 55 

Table 7-2  Other activities involving the natural environment by frequency of participation in      
visits (column %) ........................................................................................................................... 56 

Table 7-3  Changing lifestyle to protect the natural environment (%)............................................. 59 

Table 7-4  Future intentions by age, socio-economic status, working status, ethnicity, long term 
illness/disability and rural/urban place of residence (row %) ......................................................... 60 

Table 7-5  Pro-environmental behaviours by frequency of natural environment visits (column %) . 62 

Appendix 1: 

Table A  Annual sample sizes ....................................................................................................... 64 

Appendix 2: 

Table B  Sample design effect and design factor .......................................................................... 66 

Table C  Total number of visits taken by adults ............................................................................. 68 

Table D  Expenditure during visits ................................................................................................. 69 

 

Page 20



 

ix Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

List of figures 
Figure 2-1  Percentage of adult population taking visits to the natural environment in the previous 
seven days (%) ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 2-2  Frequency of visits to the natural environment (%)........................................................ 6 

Figure 2-3  Volume of visits by general place visited (March 2012 to February 2013) ..................... 7 

Figure 2-4  Estimated quarterly volume of visits to the natural environment by general type of  
place visited (March 2009 to February 2013) (Quarterly base at least 10,200) ................................ 8 

Figure 2-5  Average numbers of visits per adult by residents of each region (March 2012 to 
February 2013) ............................................................................................................................... 9 

Figure 2-6  Volume of visits taken by residents of English regions (March 2009 to               
February 2013) ............................................................................................................................. 10 

Figure 2-7  Estimated volume of visits taken to destinations in each region (March 2009 to 
February 2013) ............................................................................................................................. 11 

Figure 3-1  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by key demographics     
(% reporting at least one visit in the last week) ............................................................................. 13 

Figure 3-2  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by residents of each 
region (%) ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

Figure 3-3  Frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) .............................. 17 

Figure 3-4  Age profile by frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) ........ 18 

Figure 3-5  Socio-economic profile by frequency of participation in visits to the natural   
environment (%) ........................................................................................................................... 20 

Figure 3-6  Number of days over the last week that the respondent undertook 30 minutes of     
more of physical activity by frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) ...... 22 

Figure 4-1  Type of place visited by age, socio-economic status, ethnicity and Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (%) ............................................................................................................................. 25 

Figure 4-2  Type of places visited – specific (volume of visits March to February 2012/13 and 
percentage of total visits in this period) ......................................................................................... 26 

Figure 4-3  Distance travelled by socio-economic status, dog ownership and car access (%) ....... 28 

Figure 4-4  Distance travelled by place visited (%) ........................................................................ 29 

Figure 4-5  Average distance travelled by socio-economic status, dog ownership, car access     
and place visited ........................................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 4-6  Mode of transport used on journey by place visited and distance travelled (%) ........... 30 

Figure 5-1  Duration of visits by place visited (%) .......................................................................... 32 

Figure 5-2  Activities undertaken during visits (volume of visits March 2011 to February 2013      
and % of total visits in this period) ................................................................................................. 33 

Figure 5-3  Estimated volume of visits taken with children under 16 in party (millions) .................. 37 

Figure 5-4  Percentage of visits taken accompanied by children (aged under 16) by socio-
economic status, working status, ethnicity disability, Index of Multiple Deprivation and if   
urban/rural (%) .............................................................................................................................. 38 

Figure 5-5  Items purchased during visits to the natural environment (%) ..................................... 40 

Figure 5-6  Distribution of expenditure on visits by category of spend (%) .................................... 41 

Figure 5-7  Distribution of expenditure on visits by destination type (%) ........................................ 42 

Page 21



x 

Figure 6-1  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment (%) ............................................. 44 

Figure 6-2  Outcomes of visits to the natural environment (%) ...................................................... 47 

Figure 6-3  Barriers to participation amongst infrequent and non-participants (%) ......................... 49 

Figure 7-1  Other activities involving the natural environment (%) ................................................. 53 

Figure 7-2  Attitudes to the natural environment (%) ..................................................................... 57 

Figure 7-3  Attitudes to the natural environment by frequency of visits to the natural environment 
(% agreeing strongly with statements) .......................................................................................... 58 

Figure 7-4  Pro-environmental behaviours .................................................................................... 61 

 

Page 22



 

1 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report summarises the headline findings from the fourth year of the Monitor of 
Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey. Comparisons have been made 
with the third year of the survey undertaken between March 2011 and February 2012 and 
where appropriate, trends from all four surveys years have also been highlighted. 

1.2 The survey was undertaken by TNS on behalf of Natural England, the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) and the Forestry Commission.  

Background 

1.3 Prior to the start of MENE, there was growing evidence of the positive benefits that contact 
with the natural environment offers, however there was also a lack of information about how 
and why people engage with the natural environment. Natural England, Defra and the 
Forestry Commission therefore commissioned TNS to undertake the Monitor of 
Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey. 

1.4 In the four years since the survey commenced, a wealth of evidence on outdoor recreation 
behaviour and attitudes has been collected. In addition, the survey has provided a basis for 
specific analysis on areas such as how members of different societal groups and children 
engage with the outdoors. 

Survey aims and objectives 

1.5 This survey aims to provide information about the relationship between people and the 
natural environment. Whilst the main focus of the survey is on visits, it also seeks to capture 
other ways of using or enjoying the natural environment such as time spent in the garden 
and watching nature programmes on television. 

1.6 The objectives of the survey are to: 

· provide estimates of the number of visits to the natural environment by the English adult 
population (16 years and over); 

· measure the extent of participation in visits to the natural environment and identify the 
barriers and drivers that shape participation; 

· provide robust information on the characteristics of visitors and visits to the natural 
environment; 

· measure other ways of using and enjoying the natural environment; and 

· identify patterns in use and participation for key groups within the population and at a 
range of spatial scales. 

Survey scope 

1.7 The survey relates to engagement with the natural environment. By natural environment we 
mean all green open spaces in and around towns and cities as well as the wider 
countryside and coastline. 

1.8 The main focus of the survey is on visits to the natural environment. By visits we mean time 
spent outdoors in the natural environment, away from home and private gardens. The 
results in sections two to six relate to visits to the natural environment. 

Page 23



2 

1.9 The survey also includes a smaller section of questions regarding engagement with the 
natural environment other than that experienced during visits. This includes activities such 
as time spent in private gardens, watching nature programmes on television and 
undertaking pro-environmental activities such as recycling. The results of these questions 
are included in section seven of this report. 

1.10 Throughout this report, the following terminology is used to describe the timings of survey 
fieldwork: 

· 2009/10, also written as “year one”, refers to the period March 2009 to February 2010. 

· 2010/11, also written as “year two”, refers to the period March 2010 to February 2011. 

· 2011/12, also written as “year three”, refers to the period March 2011 to February 2012. 

· 2012/13, also written as “year four”, refers to the period March 2012 to February 2013. 

1.11 Please note that any trends or variations between results highlighted in the text are 
statistically significant unless stated otherwise. This means that differences between 
results, for example when comparing two years or two population groups, have been 
proven through statistical analysis as likely to be real differences at the 95 per cent 
confidence limits, as opposed to differences which are the result of sampling error or 
chance. 

Structure of the report 

1.12 This report presents the headline findings from the 2012/13 survey under the following 
sections. Where appropriate, comparisons are made with the results from 2011/12 and the 
preceding years and statistically significant differences are highlighted. Results are also 
presented by key population groups. 

Section 2: An overview of visits to the natural environment – this summarises national 
and regional results for the proportion of the English adult population visiting the natural 
environment, and provides estimates of the total volume of visits taken. 

Section 3: Who? A profile of people that do and don’t visit – this section focuses in 
detail on the people that do and don’t visit the natural environment and on the key 
differences and characteristics of these groups. 

Section 4: Where? The destination of visits – this section provides an analysis of the 
destination of visits to the natural environment, and the modes of transport used. 

Section 5: What? A profile of visits – the nature of visits to the natural environment is 
explored in this section. It includes the duration of visits, activities undertaken, party 
composition and expenditure. 

Section 6: Why? Reasons for visiting or not visiting – this section examines the 
motivations for visiting the natural environment and the benefits gained from doing so. It 
also includes an analysis of the barriers to participation. 

Section 7: Other engagement with the natural environment – this section summarises 
findings on other ways of enjoying and appreciating the natural environment.  

Appendices: 

Appendix 1: Survey scope and methods – summarises the survey scope, method, 
fieldwork and approach to data analysis.  

Appendix 2: Accuracy of survey results – this provides a summary of the margins of 
error associated with key survey results and ‘rules of thumb’ to apply when interpreting the 
survey findings. 

Page 24



 

3 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Appendix 3: Definitions of socio-economic groups 

Further publications from the survey 

1.13 This annual report forms one part of a larger family of outputs from the survey. Published 
alongside this report are: 

· Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment Technical Report– providing 
full details of the survey methodology, including approaches to sampling, grossing and 
weighting, estimates of confidence intervals and a copy of the full questionnaire;  

· Electronic data table viewer– an interactive tool which allows detailed analysis of the 
MENE dataset at the England, Regional and County level from 2012/13, 2011/12, 
2010/11 and 2009/10; 

· Quarterly reports - brief reports which summarise the key figures and messages from 
the survey each quarter. 

1.14 A series of further outputs based on additional analysis of the MENE data are also available 
from the Natural England website3. 

  

 
3
 See www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/research/mene.aspx 

Page 25



4 

2 An overview of visits to the natural 
environment 

2.1 This section focuses on the frequency and volume of visits at the national and regional level 
between March 2012 and February 2013. Comparisons are made with the key results from 
the 2011/12 survey and trends from the last four survey years.  

Headline results in this section 

· Between March 2012 and February 2013, an average of 41 per cent of the English 
adult population visited the natural environment during the previous seven days. The 
proportion visiting the outdoors in the last seven days has remained at around two-fifths 
of the population since 2009/10. 

· It is estimated that the average annual number of visits taken per adult during March 
2012 to February 2013 was 67. This was significantly higher than the average of 60 
recorded in 2010/11 but significantly lower than the 2009/10 average of 69. 

· The English adult population participated in an estimated 2.85 billion visits to the natural 
environment between March 2012 and February 2013. While this estimate is higher 
than the estimated 2.49 billion visits taken in 2010/11 it is not significantly different to 
the volumes recorded in the other survey years. 

· During the first two years of the survey, there was a significant seasonal variation in 
volumes of visits with the lowest volumes taken between December 2009 and February 
2010 and December 2010 and February 2011. However in the more recent two years, 
seasonal variation has been much less apparent. 

Frequency of visits 

2.2 The survey records the number of visits taken per adult during the last seven days. This 
allows estimates of the total volume of visits taken in each week of the survey period to be 
calculated. 

2.3 Between March 2012 and February 2013, an average of 41 per cent of the English adult 
population had taken any visits to the natural environment during the previous seven days, 
17 per cent had taken one visit and eight per cent had visited twice. Overall, nine per cent 
had taken five visits or more over the previous week.  

2.4 Figure 2-1 illustrates variations in the proportion of the population taking at least one visit in 
the last seven days over the four years of the survey. The annual average was lowest 
between March 2010 and February 2011 when an average of 39 per cent of the population 
had taken visits in the last seven days. 

2.5  The proportion of the population taking visits has varied significantly over the four years, 
with a clear seasonal pattern of higher levels of participation in the spring and summer 
months but lower levels in the winter. 

Page 26



 

5 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
 
Figure 2-1  Percentage of adult population taking visits to the natural environment in the previous 
seven days (%) 
Q1 How many times, if at all, did you make this type of visit? (Base: All respondents, weekly questions 
2009/10 N=48,514; 2010/11 N=46,099; 2011/12 N=47,418; 2012/13 N=46,749) 
 

2.6 Using this data, it can be estimated that an average of 67 visits were taken per adult during 
the 12 months from March 2012 to February 2013. This was significantly higher than the 
average of 60 recorded in 2010/11 but significantly lower than the 2009/10 average of 69. 

2.7 The survey also asks respondents how often they typically visited the natural environment 
during the last 12 months (Figure 2-2). The data collected from this question provides a 
useful, broad measure of participation levels and general propensity to visit the outdoors 
amongst the population as a whole. The results of this question have also been used to 
categorise the population into groups according to their frequency of engagement (see 
Section Three). 

2.8 The frequency of visits taken to the natural environment varies greatly across the English 
population. While 55 per cent of the adult population stated that they normally visited the 
natural environment at least once per week, eight per cent had only made one or two visits 
and nine per cent claimed they had not taken a visit at all during the previous 12 months. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

M
a

r-
0

9

M
a

y
-0

9

Ju
l-

0
9

S
e

p
-0

9

N
o

v-
0

9

Ja
n

-1
0

M
a

r-
1

0

M
a

y
-1

0

Ju
l-

1
0

S
e

p
-1

0

N
o

v-
1

0

Ja
n

-1
1

M
a

r-
1

1

M
a

y
-1

1

Ju
l-

1
1

S
e

p
-1

1

N
o

v-
1

1

Ja
n

-1
2

M
a

r-
1

2

M
a

y
-1

2

Ju
l-

1
2

S
e

p
-1

2

N
o

v-
1

2

Ja
n

-1
3

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

a
d

u
lt

 p
o

p
u

la
la

ti
o

n

Month

2009/10 

(average 43%) 

2010/11 

(average 39%)  

2011/12 

(average 42%)  

2012/13 

(average 41%) 

Page 27



6 

 

 
Figure 2-2  Frequency of visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: All respondents, monthly questions 2012/13 N=10,544) 
 

2.9 As shown in Table 2-1 below, the proportion of the population stating that they never visit 
the outdoors for leisure has not varied significantly over the past four years of MENE. 

Table 2-1  Proportion of population visiting the natural environment in the last 12 months (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: All respondents, monthly questions 2009/10 N=11,107; 2010/11 N=10,630; 
2011/12 N=10,587; 2012/13 10,544) 
 

 Proportion of population visiting natural 
environment in the last 12 months 

 2009/10 

% 

2010/11 

% 

2011/12 

% 

2012/13 

% 

Visited 90 91 92 91 

Not visited 10 9 8 9 

Estimated volume of visits in the last year 

2.9 It is estimated that between March 2012 and February 2013, the 42.4 million adults resident 
in England took a total of 2.85 billion visits to the natural environment4. 47 per cent, or 1.35 
billion, of these visits were to places in the countryside, while green spaces within towns or 
cities accounted for 43 per cent, or 1.22 billion, visits. Seven per cent, or 185 million visits, 
were taken to a green space in a seaside town or resort and the remaining three per cent, 
99 million visits, were taken to other seaside coastline areas (Figure 2-3). 

 
4
 Taking account of margins of error, at the 95% confidence level estimated total visits range from 2.79 to 

2.91 billion                                         

11

23
21

20

8 8
9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Every day Several 

times a 

week

Once a 

week

Once or 

twice a 

month

Once every 

2 or 3 

months

Once or 

twice

Never

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

a
d

u
lt

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Frequency of visits in the last 12 months

Page 28



 

7 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
 
Figure 2-3  Volume of visits by general place visited (March 2012 to February 2013) 

2.10 While the estimated 2.85 billion visits taken between March 2012 and February 2013 is four 
per cent more than the 2.73 billion visits estimated to have been taken between March 
2011 and February 2012 this difference is within statistical margins of error. 

2.11 As shown in Table 2-2, the estimated volume of visits to green spaces in towns and cities 
was 1.22 billion in 2012/13 compared to 1.05 billion the previous year. This represents a 
significant increase of 16 per cent. 

Table 2-2  Volume of visits by general place visited by survey year 
Q2 Which of the following best describes where you spent most of your time on this visit? (Base: All visits, 
weekly questions 2009/10 N=58,653; 2010/11 N=47,825; 2011/12 N=53,898; 2012/13 N=53,208)  
 

 Volume of visits (billions) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Countryside 1.38 1.31 1.41 1.35 

Towns and cities 1.16 0.92ê 1.05é 1.22é 

Seaside resort 0.21 0.17ê 0.16 0.19 

Other coastal 0.11 0.09 0.10 0.10 

Total (billions) 2.86 2.49ê 2.73é 2.85 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

2.12 Overall, across the full March 2009 to February 2013 period, the English adult population 
participated in an estimated 10.93 billion visits. 

  

Countryside

1.35 billion visits 

(47%)Green space in 

town and city 

1.22 billion visits 

(43%)

Seaside resort or 

town 

185 million visits  

(7%)

Other seaside 

coastline

99 million visits 

(3%)

Total - 2.85 billion visits

Page 29



8 

Changes by quarter 

2.13 Figure 2-3 illustrates the volumes of visits taken by quarter. During the first two years of the 
survey, there was a significant seasonal variation in volumes of visits with the lowest 
volumes taken between December 2009 and February 2010 and December 2010 and 
February 2011. However in the more recent two years, seasonal variation has been much 
less apparent.   

2.14 Throughout the survey, the overall pattern of visits to each of the main types of destination 
generally followed the same seasonal variations. 

 
 
Figure 2-4  Estimated quarterly volume of visits to the natural environment by general type of 
place visited (March 2009 to February 2013) (Quarterly base at least 10,200) 
Note: Error bars relate to estimate of total visits as represented by the height of the bar 

Regional distribution of visits 

Resident-based distribution 

2.12 The following cartogram (Figure 2-5) distorts the geographical boundaries of each English 
region according to relative population size. Areas of greater population appear larger; 
areas of lower population appear smaller. Once the boundaries have been stretched they 
are reassembled such that the new map is a distorted reflection of the original. Cartograms 
are popular in human geography because the presentation favours population size, rather 
than area of land. 

2.13 The average number of visits taken per adult for the English adult population over the 12 
month survey period was 67. There was however considerable variation between regions – 
ranging from 95 visits by residents of the North East and 93 by those living in the South 
West, to 43 visits by London residents. The cartogram demonstrates how those regions 
with the largest populations tend to have the fewest visits per person. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

M
a

r-
M

a
y

 0
9

Ju
n

-A
u

g
 0

9

S
e

p
-N

o
v
 0

9

D
e

c 
0

9
 -

F
e

b
 1

0

M
a

r-
M

a
y

 1
0

Ju
n

-A
u

g
 1

0

S
e

p
-N

o
v
 1

0

D
e

c 
1

0
-F

e
b

 1
1

M
a

r-
M

a
y

 1
1

Ju
n

-A
u

g
 1

1

S
e

p
-N

o
v
 1

1

D
e

c 
1

1
-F

e
b

 1
2

M
a

r-
M

a
y

 1
2

Ju
n

-A
u

g
 1

2

S
e

p
-N

o
v
 1

2

D
e

c 
1

2
 -

F
e

b
 1

3

M
il

li
o

n
s 

o
f 

v
is

it
s

Visits to green spaces in towns and cities Visits to the coast Visits to the countryside

Page 30



 

9 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
 
Figure 2-5  Average numbers of visits per adult by residents of each region (March 2012 to 
February 2013)   

Page 31



10 

2.14 Figure 2-6 illustrates the estimated total volume of visits to the natural environment taken by 
residents of England’s regions. The volume of visits by residents in each region is likely to 
be influenced both by the size of the population in each region and the availability of 
accessible natural environment destinations.  

 
Figure 2-6  Volume of visits taken by residents of English regions (March 2009 to February 2013) 

2.15 Comparing the estimated volume of visits taken over the four survey years suggests a 
statistically significant increase between the 2009/10 and 2012/13 in the North East of 
England, but a more varied pattern with no clear trend in other areas. 

  

Page 32



 

11 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Destination-based distribution 

2.16 In year 4 of the survey, 15 per cent of all visits were taken to destinations in the South East, 
14 per cent were taken in the South West and 13 per were taken in the North West.  

2.17 Comparing the 2011/12 and 2012/13 survey periods, the volume of visits taken to 
destinations in London and the North West increased most significantly. 

 
Figure 2-7  Estimated volume of visits taken to destinations in each region (March 2009 to 
February 2013)  
Note: The sum of the estimated volume of visits to England’s regions (2.78 billion) is less than total volume 
of visits taken in England (2.85 billion) as the destination of 2% of visits could not be coded to a region. 

Page 33



12 

3 Who? A profile of people that do 
and don’t visit 

3.1 This section provides a profile of people that do and don’t visit the natural environment. It 
focuses on differences by age, gender, ethnicity, socio-economic group and other key 
demographics.  

Headline results in this section 

· Overall levels of participation in visits over the previous seven days were significantly 
higher amongst people aged 25 to 64, those in employment, those living in rural areas 
and those in the AB socio-economic groups5. 

· Conversely, overall levels of participation were significantly lower amongst those aged 
65 and over, members of the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population, those living 
in urban areas and members of the DE socio-economic groups. 

· In terms of place of residence, people living in the areas of greatest deprivation were 
least likely to have visited the natural environment in the previous seven days, whilst 
those living in the least deprived areas were significantly more likely to have made a 
visit. 

· By region, levels of visits were highest in the South West, where almost half of the 
population had visited in the previous seven days across the year. In contrast, visits 
were lowest in London - where just under a third had visited over the previous seven 
days. 

· During the four years of the survey, levels of visit participation have varied most 
amongst those groups who generally take fewer visits. Most notably participation by 
people in the DE socio-economic groups, those living in areas of greatest deprivation, 
members of the BAME population, those between the ages of 16 and 24 and those with 
no access to a car decreased significantly between the first and second years of the 
survey before showing some recovery during the third and fourth years. 

3.2 When asked to recall the previous week6, 41 per cent of the English adult population stated 
they had taken at least one visit to the natural environment7. 

3.3 In 2012/13, as in previous years, the survey data has shown a relationship between age 
and participation in visits. As Figure 3-1 (overleaf) shows, 44 per cent of those aged 
between 25 and 64 had taken a visit to the natural environment in the last seven days - a 
higher proportion than the 38 per cent of those aged 16 to 24 and the 33 per cent of those 
aged 65 and over who had done so. 

3.4 The relationship between socio-economic status and participation also continues to be 
evident, with 52 per cent of those in the AB socio-economic groups visiting the natural 
environment in the previous seven days compared to 30 per cent of those in the DE groups. 

3.5 Linked to socio-economic status, 44 per cent of those in paid employment had visited the 
outdoors in the last seven days compared to 38 per cent of those not in paid employment.  

 
5
 For further explanation of the socio-economic groups referred to in this report, see Appendix 3 

6
 The focus on the previous week improves the likelihood of respondents accurately recalling details of the 

visits they have taken 
7
 Taking account of margins of error, at the 95% confidence level the estimated percentage of the population 

taking visits ranges from 37.6 per cent to 44.3 per cent  

Page 34



 

13 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

3.6 Participation also varied by ethnicity; 27 per cent of those from the BAME population visited 
in the seven days prior to interview compared to 43 per cent of those of White ethnicity. 

 
 
Figure 3-1  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by key demographics (% 
reporting at least one visit in the last week) 
Q1 How many times, if at all, did you make this type of visit? (Base: All respondents, weekly questions 
2012/13 N=46,749) 
 
3.7 The data also shows variations in visits to the natural environment by the type of area 

people live in. For example, 52 per cent of those living in rural areas had visited the natural 
environment in the previous seven days compared to 47 per cent of those living in town/ 
fringe areas and 40 per cent residents of urban areas. 

52%

47%

40%

39%

46%

33%

41%

49%

31%

43%

27%

43%

38%

37%

36%

44%

30%

39%

42%

52%

33%

44%

44%

38%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Rural

Town/fringe

Urban

None

Any

Bottom 10%

Mid 11%-89%

Top 10%

Any

None

BAME

White

Unemployed

Still in education

Retired

Working ft/ pt

DE

C2

C1

AB

65+

45-64

25-44

16-24

Participated in visits in last 7 days

A
g

e
S

o
ci

a
l 

g
ra

d
e

IM
D

C
h

il
d

re
n

 i
n

 

h
o

u
se

h
o

ld

Lo
n

g
-t

e
rm

 

il
ln

e
ss

/ 

d
is

a
b

il
it

y

U
rb

a
n

/

ru
ra

l

E
th

n
ic

 

o
ri

g
in

W
o

rk
in

g
 s

ta
tu

s

Page 35



14 

3.8 Variations in visits were also recorded according to the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
(IMD)8. Only a third of those living in areas with the greatest deprivation had visited the 
natural environment in the previous seven days compared to 49 per cent of those in the 
least deprived areas.   

3.9 As Table 3-1 overleaf shows, the proportion of each of these population groups taking visits 
in the last seven days has varied over the four years of the survey. The greatest variations 
have been recorded amongst those population groups which generally demonstrate a lower 
propensity to visit the outdoors anyway, including those in the DE socio-economic groups, 
those living in the areas of greatest deprivation, members of the BAME population, those 
between the ages of 16 and 24 and those with no access to a car. 

  

 
8
 The IMD combines a number of social and economic indicators to give small geographic areas a single 

derivation score. The 2007 Index was used in 2009/10 and the 2010 Index for subsequent survey years. 
These scores are then ranked allowing the most and least deprived areas to be identified. For more details 
see URL: www.communities.gov.uk/communities/neighbourhoodrenewal/deprivation/ 

Page 36



 

15 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 3-1  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by key demographics (% 
reporting at least one visit in the last week) 
Q1 How many times, if at all, did you make this type of visit? (Base: All respondents, weekly questions 
2009/10 N=48,514; 2010/11 N=46,099; 2011/12 N=47,418; 2012/13 N=46,749) 
  

 Participated in visits in last 7 days 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

Age     

16-24 43% 36%ê 40%é 38% 

25-44 46% 42%ê 45%é 44% 

45-64 46% 43%ê 44% 44% 

65+ 44% 31%ê 33%é 33% 

Socio-economic group9     

AB 53% 52% 52% 52% 

C1 46% 41%ê 45%é 42%ê 

C2 42% 38%ê 39% 39% 

DE 34% 28%ê 31%é 30% 

Working status     

Full/ part-time 46% 43%ê 45%é 44% 

Retired 37% 34%ê 36%é 36% 

Still in education 45% 36%ê 39% 37% 

Unemployed 41% 36%ê 38% 38% 

Ethnicity     

White 45% 42%ê 44%é 43% 

BAME 27% 22%ê 27%é 27% 

Long-term illness/ disability     

Any 33% 30%ê 32%é 31% 

None 46% 41%ê 44%é 43% 

Index of Multiple Deprivation     

Bottom 10% 30% 27%ê 29% 33%é 

Mid 11% to 89% 44% 40%ê 42%é 41% 

Top 10% 54% 49%ê 50% 49% 

Car access     

Car access 48% 44%ê 46%é 45% 

No car access 31% 26%ê 28%é 29% 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

 
9
 For definitions, see Appendix 3 

Page 37



16 

3.10 Figure 3-2 uses a cartogram to display the variations in levels of participation in visits to the 
natural environment during the week prior to interview amongst the residents of each 
region. Levels of participation were highest in the South West with 49 per cent having 
visited the outdoors in the last seven days compared to 34 per cent in London.  

3.11 Since 66 per cent of visits taken in England are taken within two miles of the starting point, 
participation in visits over the previous week by residents of each region is likely to be 
associated with the amount of locally accessible greenspace, and the frequency at which 
visits are taken for routine purposes (for example, dog walking). 

 
Figure 3-2  Participation in visits to the natural environment in last week by residents of each 
region (%) 

Page 38



 

17 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Participation in visits in the last 12 months 

3.12 As described in Section 2, MENE respondents were asked to provide details of their 
general propensity to take visits to the natural environment in the last 12 months. 
Responses to this question may be used to divide the English adult population into discrete 
groups according to their level of participation: 

· Frequent visitors – those who state that on average they normally visit at least once a 
week. 

· Infrequent visitors – those who state that on average they normally visit once or twice 
a month or less often. 

· Non-participants – those who state that they have not visited in the last 12 months. 
 

 

Figure 3-3  Frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: 2012/13 N=42,400) 
 

3.13 The charts and tables on the following pages compare the demographic profile of members 
of each of these three frequency bands, with statistically significant variations highlighted in 
the commentary. 

3.14 Figure 3-4 compares the age profile of members of each of the three frequency bands. This 
comparison highlights the older age profile amongst non-participants, with 37 per cent of 
this group aged 65 and over compared to just 18 per cent of frequent participants, and 21 
per cent of infrequent participants. These age profiles have not changed significantly over 
the past four years. 

11

23
21 20

8 8
9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Every day Several times a 

week

Once a week Once or twice 

a month

Once every 2 

or 3 months

Once or twice Never

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

a
d

u
lt

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Frequency of visits in the last 12 months

Frequent visitors 
55% or 24 million adults 

Infrequent visitors 
36% or 16 million adults 

Non- participants 
9% or 4 million 

adults 

Page 39



18 

 
Figure 3-4  Age profile by frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: Monthly questions 2012/13 Frequent N=5,596; Infrequent N=3,893; Non-
participants N=1,055) 
 

3.15 Table 3-2 shows that 39 per cent of non-participants were retired compared to 24 per cent 
amongst the population as a whole, while 39 per cent had a long-term illness or disability 
compared to 18 per cent of the population overall. These variations reflect the older age 
profile of non-participants more generally as shown above. 

3.16 The presence of children in the household also has an association with visit taking. Just 18 
per cent of non-participants had children in the household - a lower proportion than 
amongst the English adult population as a whole where 29 per cent of people have children 
in the household. 

  

16 13 10 14

33 36

23

34

33 31

30

31

18 21

37

21

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Frequent Infrequent Non-participants English adult 

population

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 g
ro

u
p

Frequency of visits

65+

45-64

25-44

16-24

Page 40



 

19 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 3-2  Working status profile, long term illness or disability and children in household by 
frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: Monthly questions 2012/13 Frequent N=5,596; Infrequent N=3,893; Non-
participants N=1,055) 
 

 Frequency of visits 

 
Frequent % Infrequent % 

Non-
participant % 

English adult 
population % 

Working status     

Working full time (30+ hours per 
week) 

45 47 32 44 

Working part time (less than 30 
hours per week) 

14 11 8 13 

Retired 21 24 39 24 

At school or full time higher 
education 

8 6 3 7 

Unemployed/not seeking work 12 12 18 13 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Long term illness and disability     

Any long term illness or disability 15 20 39 18 

No long term illness of disability 85 80 61 82 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Children in household     

Any children in household 30 27 18 29 

No children in household 70 73 82 71 

Total 100 100 100 100 

 
3.18 The relationship between socio-economic status and levels of participation with the natural 

environment also continues to be evident (Figure 3-5). The results from the 2012/13 survey 
confirm this pattern with 30 per cent of frequent visitors from the most affluent AB socio-
economic groups compared to 25 per cent of the English population as a whole.  

3.19 In contrast, 45 per cent of non-participants were in the least affluent DE socio-economic 
groups compared to 25 per cent of the population as a whole.  

Page 41



20 

 
Figure 3-5  Socio-economic profile by frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment 
(%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: Monthly questions. 2012-13 Frequent N=5,596; Infrequent N=3,893; Non-
participants N=1,055) 
 

3.20 Reflecting these socio-economic variations, analysis of participation using the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation has revealed that those in the most deprived areas are more likely to 
be non-participants (Table 3-3). In 2012/13, 15 per cent of non-participants lived in the most 
deprived areas in England, even though this group represents ten per cent of the English 
adult population.  

3.21 Also 20 per cent of non-participants were from the BAME population, a significantly higher 
percentage than the 14 per cent found amongst the general population. 

  

20
27

45

25

20

21

19

21

30

30

22

29

30
23

14
25

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Frequent Infrequent Non-participants English adult 

population

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 g
ro

u
p

Frequency of visits

AB

C1

C2

DE

Page 42



 

21 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 3-3  Ethnicity and Index of Multiple Deprivation by frequency of participation in visits to the 
natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: Monthly questions. 2012/13 Frequent N=5,596; Infrequent N=3,893; Non-
participants N=1,055) 
 

 Frequency of visits 

  

Frequent % 

 

Infrequent % 
Non-    

participants % 
English adult 
population % 

Ethnicity     

BAME 11 20 20 14 

White 89 80 80 86 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 

    

Bottom 10% 8 12 15 10 

Mid 11% to 89% 82 79 77 79 

Top 10% 9 7 5 9 

Not classified 1 2 3 2 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Note: Not every respondent gave a postcode, therefore, some respondents are not classified according to the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation 

  

Page 43



22 

3.22 Figure 3-6 highlights an association between frequency of visits to the outdoors and levels 
of physical exercise. 50 per cent of those who visited the natural environment took part in at 
least 30 minutes of physical activity at least three times a week, compared to just 20 per 
cent of those who did not take visits. 

 
Figure 3-6  Number of days over the last week that the respondent undertook 30 minutes of more 
of physical activity by frequency of participation in visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q17 Thinking about the last 12 months, how often on average have you spent your leisure time out of doors, 
away from home? (Base: Monthly questions. 2012/13 Frequent N=5,596; Infrequent N=3,893; Non-
participants N=1,055) 

Changes by population group 

3.23 The volume of visits taken to the natural environment over the four year survey period also 
varied amongst demographic groups as shown in Table 3-4.  

3.24 Comparing volumes of visits in the first and fourth years of surveying, the most notable net 
change was recorded amongst those in the most affluent AB socio-economic groups with a 
23 per cent increase over this period. Conversely, over the same period there was a 22 per 
cent decrease in the volume of visits taken by members of the DE socio-economic groups. 
Between the first and fourth years of surveying there was also a 17 per cent increase in the 
volume of visits taken by members of the BAME population. 

  

50

68
80

61

50

32
20

39

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Frequent Infrequent Non-participants English adult 

population

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 g
ro

u
p

Frequency of visits

3 or more days

0 to 2 days

Page 44



 

23 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 3-4  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by age, socio-economic group, 
working status and ethnicity 
(Base: All visits in last 12 months, weekly questions 2009/10 N=20,374; 2010/11 N=17,389; 2011/12 
N=19,014; 2012/13 N=18,185) 
 

 Volume of visits (millions) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Age     

16-24 313.3 258.8ê 303.7é 312.3é 

25-34 406.3 350.0 383.8 436.2 

35-44 612.7 528.6 570.0 495.3 

45-54 543.4 501.0 530.0 581.3 

55-64 501.8 448.1 481.5 483.6 

65+ 480.3 407.5 458.0 540.4 

Socio-economic group10     

AB 769.5 804.2 807.4 945.1é 

C1 828.6 708.9 813.3 797.4 

C2 569.5 505.0 548.3 568.5 

DE 690.1 475.7ê 557.5 538.0 

Working status     

Full/ part-time 1,682.3 1,524.3 1,656.1 1,692.8 

Retired 645.1 558.1 596.0 695.1é 

Still in education 123.7 96.5ê 121.1é 129.7 

Unemployed 406.3 314.9ê 353.3 331.4 

Ethnicity     

White 2,706.7 2,377.5 2,564.3 2,668.8 

BAME 145.5 110.0ê 153.8é 170.9 

Total 2,858 2,494ê 2,726é 2,849 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

 
10

 For definitions, see Appendix 3 

Page 45



24 

4 Where? The destination of visits 

4.1 This section of the report focuses upon the destination of visits to the natural environment, 
including the type of place, distance travelled and mode of transport. 

Headline results in this section 

· In total, 47 per cent of visits to the natural environment were taken to the countryside, 
43 per cent were to green spaces within towns and cities while ten per cent were taken 
in coastal locations.  

· The proportion of visits to the countryside significantly decreased from 52 per cent of all 
visits in 2011/12 to 47 per cent in 2012/13. Conversely, the proportion of visits to green 
spaces within towns and cities increased significantly from 38 per cent of all visits in 
2011/12 to 43 per cent in 2012/13.  

· More specifically, volumes of visits to urban parks increased significantly between 
2011/12 and 2012/13. This increase in visits to urban parks made a considerable 
contribution to the overall increase in the volumes of visits taken in English towns and 
cities over this period. 

· In total, 43 per cent of visits were taken to green spaces within towns and cities but for 
certain groups this type of place was more important. 82 per cent of visits taken by the 
BAME population were to this type of place, as were 66 per cent of the visits taken by 
those living in the most deprived neighbourhoods, 61 per cent of those taken by 16 to 
24 year olds and 50 per cent of those taken by members of the DE socio-economic 
group. 

· 66 per cent of all visits were taken within two miles of home, highlighting the importance 
of accessible local green space. This finding is consistent with that from previous MENE 
surveys. 

· 45 per cent of visits to seaside/ coastal destinations involved travelling by car, while the 
majority of countryside and urban visits were taken on foot. 

Type of place visited 

General type of place visited 

4.2 Respondents were asked about the general type of place that they visited – whether it was 
the countryside, a green space in a town or city, a green space in a seaside town or 
another coastal location. 

4.3 It is estimated that between March 2012 and February 2013, the 42.4 million adults resident 
in England took a total of 2.85 billion visits to the natural environment11. 47 per cent, or 1.35 
billion, of these visits were to places in the countryside, while green spaces within towns or 
cities accounted for 43 per cent, or 1.22 billion, visits. Seven per cent, or 185 million visits, 
were taken to a green space in a seaside town or resort and the remaining three per cent, 
99 million visits, were taken to other seaside coastline areas. 

4.4 The proportion of visits taken to the countryside significantly decreased from 52 per cent of 
all visits taken in 2011/12 to 47 per cent in 2012/13. Conversely, the proportion of visits 
taken to green spaces within towns and cities increased significantly from 38 per cent of 
visits in 2011/12 to 43 per cent in 2012/13. 

 

 
11

 Taking account of margins of error, at the 95% confidence level estimated total visits range from 2.79 to 
2.91 billion                                         

Page 46



 

25 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 4-1  Proportion of visits by general place visited by survey year (%) 
Q2 Which of the following best describes where you spent most of your time on this visit? (Base: All visits, 
weekly questions 2009/10 N=58,653; 2010/11 N=47,825; 2011/12 N=53,898; 2012/13 N=53,208) 
 

 Proportion of visits 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

Countryside 49 53é 52 47ê 

Towns and cities 41 37ê 38 43é 

Seaside resort 7 7 6 7 

Other coastal 4 4 4 3 

Total  100 100 100 100 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

4.5 As show in Figure 4-1, compared to other types of place, countryside locations were more 
likely to be visited by people aged 45 or over, those in the AB social groups, those of White 
ethnicity and those living in the least deprived areas.   

4.6 Conversely, visits taken by those aged 16 to 24, those in the DE social group, members of 
the BAME population and those living in the most deprived areas were more likely to 
include green spaces in a town or city in their visits. 

 

 
Figure 4-1  Type of place visited by age, socio-economic status, ethnicity and Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (%) 
Q2 Which of the following best describes where you spent most of your time on this visit (Base: 2012/13 All 
visits, weekly questions N=53,208) 
 

4.7 Countryside visits were more common amongst those who owned a dog, with 55 per cent 
of visits taken by these respondents occurring within a countryside destination.  

25

48

63

49

15

40

45

46

54

53

54

37

31

47

66

42

32

40

82

50

44

44

37

34

35

55

61

43

7

7

3

7

3

7

7

7

6

8

7

6

5

7

2

4

2

4

1

3

4

4

4

4

4

3

2

3

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Bottom 10%

11% to 89%

Top 10%

Non BAME

BAME

DE

C2

C1

AB

65+

45-64

25-44

16-24

English adult population

Percentage of population group

Countryside

Town and city

Seaside resort or town

Other seaside coastline

S
o

ci
o

-

e
co

n
o

m
ic

 

st
a

tu
s

E
th

n
ic

it
y

IM
D

A
g

e

Page 47



26 

4.8 In contrast, 66 of visits taken by people with no access to a car and 52 per cent of those 
taken by unemployed people included a green space in a town or city.  

Detailed type of place visited 

4.9 As well as the general type of place visited, respondents were asked to provide more 
specific details about the type of place visited. Figure 4-2 features all of the types of place 
which accounted for at least one per cent of visits12. 

 
 
Figure 4-2  Type of places visited – specific (volume of visits March to February 2012/13 and 
percentage of total visits in this period) 
Q5 Which of the following list of places best describes where you spent your time during your visit? (Base: 
Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 N=18,185)  
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have included more than one type of place 
 

  

 
12

 It should be noted that respondents were asked to specify all of the types of place included in their visit 
and could select more than one of the answer options. Therefore in some cases, an individual visit is 
included in the total for more than one type of place. This means that the sum of the percentages is more 
than 100 per cent. 

22m (1%)

73m (3%)

86m (3%)

95m (3%)

166m (6%)

170m (6%)

204m (7%)

207m (7%)

245m (9%)

248m (9%)

252m (9%)

323m (11%)

357m (13%)

448m (16%)

710m (25%) 

0 200 400 600 800

An allotment

Mountain, hill, moorland

Children's playground

Other coastline

A village

A beach

Country park

Playing field/other recreation area

Farmland

Another open space in town or city

River, lake, canal

Another open space in countryside

Woodland or forest

Path, cycleway, bridleway

Park in a town or city

Million visits

Page 48



 

27 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 4-2  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by detailed type of place 
Q5 Which of the following list of places best describes where you spent your time during your visit? (Base: 
Random visit, weekly questions 2009/10 N=20,374; 2010/11 N=17,389; 2011/12 N=19,014; 2012/13 
N=18,185) 
  

 Volume of visits (millions) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Park in a town/city 677.6 557.8ê 628.4é 709.9é 

Path/cycleway/bridleway 369.2 360.0 430.1é 448.3 

Woodland/forest 316.8 325.6 358.3 356.6 

Another space in the countryside 319.0 307 328.2 323.2 

River/lake/canal 253.4 231.9 261.4 251.8 

Another open space in a town/city 226.3 188.7 221.6 247.7 

Farmland 209.0 233.0 241.2 244.6 

Playing field/other recreation area 195.4 191.0 228.9é   206.7 

Country park 198.7 176.3 196.6 204.3 

Beach 174.1 159.1 151.8 170.4 

Village 176.0 157.5 194.4 166.3 

Other coastline  98.2 91.3 90.0 94.8 

Children’s playground 82.2 75.8 80.2 85.5 

Mountain/hill/moorland 61.1 63.9 76.3 73.0 

Allotment/community garden 17.2 15.6 20.6 22.4 

Total 2,858 2,494ê 2,726é 2,849 

Notes: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have included more than one type of place. Statistically significant 
year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows. 

4.10 Parks in towns and cities continued to be the most visited type of destination, and were 
included in a quarter of all visits. In total there were 710 million visits to parks in town and 
cities during 2012/13, a 13 per cent increase on the 628 million visits taken during 2011/12. 

4.11 Comparing volumes of visit taken to each type of place in the 2009/10 and 2012/13, the 
only statistically significant variation was an increase in the volume of visits to paths, 
cycleways or bridleways. 

Distance travelled to main destination 

4.12 Respondents were asked how far they had travelled to reach their destination. Where more 
than one place was visited, or where there was no particular destination, respondents were 
asked about the place they spent most time, or the place that was their final destination. 

4.13 The main visit destination was within one mile (1.6 km) of the respondent’s home or other 
start point for 40 per cent of visits. A further 26 per cent of visits took place within one to two 
miles (1.6 to 3.2 km), and 82 per cent of visits took place within five miles (8 km) of the start 
point of the visit - proportions that do not vary significantly from previous surveys. 

Page 49



28 

4.14 In total 95 per cent of visits to the natural environment started from the participant’s home 
with the remainder being from someone else’s home, from holiday accommodation or from 
a workplace.  

 
Figure 4-3  Distance travelled by socio-economic status, dog ownership and car access (%) 
Q8 Approximately how far did you travel to reach this place? (Base: Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=18,185) 

 

4.15 Groups most reliant on local green spaces included those in the lower socio-economic 
groups with 48 per cent of visits taken by the DE groups taking place within one mile of the 
starting point, and people with no access to a car, 49 per cent of whom took visits within a 
one mile radius.  

4.16 Also it is notable that 49 per cent of dog owners took visits within a mile of the start point 
compared to 29 per cent of people with no dog. 

4.17 The distance of visits to the natural environment varied considerably according to 
destination (Figure 4-4). For example 48 per cent of visits to green spaces in towns and 
cities involved journeys of less than one mile, while a third of visits to seaside resorts or 
towns involved a longer journey of over 5 miles. 

 

49

38

29

49

48

42

38

35

40

25

26

25

27

25

27

25

27

26

13

16

18

14

14

14

17

17

16

13

20

28

10

13

17

20

21

18

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

No access to a car

Access to a car

Not a dog owner

Dog owner

DE

C2

C1

AB

All visits

Percentage of visits taken by population group

Less than 1 mile (1.6km)

1 or 2 miles (1.6 to 3.2km)

3-5 miles (4.8 to 8km)

Over 5 miles (8km)

S
o

ci
o

-e
co

n
o

m
ic

 

st
a

tu
s

D
o

g
 

o
w

n
e

rs
h

ip

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

a
 c

a
r

Page 50



 

29 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
 

Figure 4-4  Distance travelled by place visited (%) 

Q8 Approximately how far did you travel to reach this place? (Base: Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=18,185) 
 

4.18 Figure 4-5 illustrates the average distances travelled for different population groups and 
destination types. Across all visits the average was 6.2 miles but longer distances were 
travelled on visits taken by those in the AB socio-economic groups, those who did not own 
a dog and on visits to the coast. 

 
Figure 4-5  Average distance travelled by socio-economic status, dog ownership, car access and 
place visited 
Q8 Approximately how far did you travel to reach this place? (Base: Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=18,185) 

26

26

34

48

40

25

28

26

26

26

19

13

19

13

16

30

33

20

13

18

0 20 40 60 80 100

Seaside coastline

Seaside resort or 

town

Countryside

Town and city

All visits

Percentage of visits to type of place

Less than 1 mile (1.6km)

1 or 2 miles (1.6 to 3.2km)

3 to 5 miles (4.8 to 8km)

Over 5 miles (8km)

11.4

14.1

6.3

4.5

4.5

6.6

8.9

3.8

4.7

5.8

6.6

6.9

6.2

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 12.0 14.0 16.0

Seaside coastline

Seaside resort or town

Countryside

Town and city

No access to a car

Access to a car

Not a dog owner

Dog owner

DE

C2

C1

AB

All visits

Average distance travelled (miles)

S
o

ci
o

-

e
co

n
o

m
ic

st
a

tu
s

D
o

g
 

o
w

n
e

rs
h

ip

A
cc

e
ss

to
 a

 c
a

r
P

la
ce

 v
is

it
e

d

Page 51



30 

Mode of transport 

4.19 Respondents were asked about the main mode of transport used for their journey. 63 per 
cent of visits involved walking, a car or van was used in 29 per cent of visits, and public 
transport was used for three per cent of visits (Figure 4-6). 

4.20 As seen below, the vast majority of visits involving a journey of less than one mile were 
taken on foot while 76 per cent of visits where the journey was five miles or more used a 
car or van. In addition, 68 per cent of visits taken to urban locations were on foot compared 
to just 46 per cent of visits to seaside coastline.  

 

Figure 4-6  Mode of transport used on journey by place visited and distance travelled (%) 

Q11 What form of transport did you use on this journey? (Base: Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=18,185) 

5

42

72

93

46

50

62

68

63

76

48

23

5

47

43

33

22

29

9

5

2

0

2

4

1

6

3

9

6

4

2

4

3

5

4

4

0 20 40 60 80 100

More than 5 miles

3 to 5 miles

1 to 2 miles

Less than 1 mile

Seaside coastline

Seaside resort or town

Countryside

Town and city

All visits

Percentage of visits 

On foot/walking

Car or van

Public transport

Other

Page 52



 

31 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

5 What? A profile of visits 

5.1 This section of the report presents the characteristics of visits to the natural environment. 
This includes an analysis of visit duration, activities, group composition (including the 
presence of children) and money spent whilst on the visit to the natural environment. 

 Headline results in this section 

· Walking remained the most popular activity, undertaken on 76 per cent of all visits, or 
approximately 2.2 billion visits overall. Half of all visits - approximately 1.4 billion visits 
were taken with dogs, while walking without a dog featured in around 769 million visits.  

· While the volume of visits significantly decreased for many of the activities between 
2009/10 and 2010/11 subsequent increases during 2011/12 and 2012/13 mean that 
there was a net growth in participation in some activities between years one and four of 
the survey.  

· 48 per cent of visits were taken by an adult on their own.  

· 20 per cent of visits were taken with children present which, when applied to the 2.85 
billion estimated outdoor visits, equates to around 568 million visits overall.  

· In total 27 per cent of visits incurred expenditure, with an average spend during these 
visits of around £27 per person.  

· An estimated £21 billion was spent during visits taken to the natural environment in the 
2012/13 period. The estimated total expenditure has not varied significantly over the 
four years of surveying, remaining in the range £17 billion to £21 billion. 

· The average visit to the natural environment lasted just over two hours (two hours 
seven minutes). This finding is not significantly different from that found in previous 
years of the survey. 

Duration of visits 

5.2 The average duration of a visit to the natural environment in 2012/13 was just over two 
hours (two hours, seven minutes). A quarter of visits lasted less than one hour, while 52 per 
cent lasted between one hour and two hours 59 minutes. The remaining 22 per cent of 
visits were reported as lasting for three hours or longer13. These findings are not 
significantly different from those obtained in previous years. 

 
13

 Note that respondents often provided rounded estimates – such as, half an hour, an hour or two hours 
rather than a precise figure. These are then grouped into the categories described 

 

Page 53



32 

 
Figure 5-1  Duration of visits by place visited (%) 
Q3 How long did this visit last altogether? (Base: Random visit, weekly questions 2012/13 N=18,185) 
 

5.3 The duration of visits varied by the type of destination, notably that 29 per cent of urban 
visits and 25 per cent of visits to countryside destinations lasted less than an hour. This 
corresponds with the shorter distances travelled on visits to these locations. In contrast, 42 
per cent of visits to seaside resorts or towns and 38 per cent of visits to other coastline 
areas lasted 3 hours or more. 

Activities undertaken on visits 

5.4 Walking remained the most popular activity, undertaken on 76 per cent of visits to the 
natural environment, or approximately 2.2 billion visits overall. More specifically, 49 per cent 
of all visits involved walking with a dog - approximately 1.4 billion visits - while walking 
without a dog featured in 27 per cent of all visits or around 769 million visits14. 

 
14

 It should be noted that respondents were asked to specify all of the activities undertaken during their visit 
and could select more than one of the answer options. Therefore, in some cases an individual visit is 
included in the total for more than one activity. This means that the sum of the percentages is more than 100 
per cent.  

 

14 

16

25 

29 

-

25 

48 

45 

55 

50 

-

52 

38 

42 

20 

21 

-

22 

0 20 40 60 80 100

Seaside coastline

Seaside resort or town

Countryside

Town or city

All visits

Percentage of visits 

Less than 1 hour

1 hour to 2 hours 59 minutes

3 hours or more

Page 54



 

33 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
Figure 5-2  Activities undertaken during visits (volume of visits March 2011 to February 2013 and 
% of total visits in this period) 
Q4 Which of these activities, if any, did you undertake? (Base: All visits, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=53,208)  
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have included more than one activity 
 

5.5 While the volume of visits significantly decreased for many of the activities between 
2009/10 and 2010/11 (see Table 5-1), subsequent increases during 2011/12 and 2012/13 
mean that there has been a net growth in participation in a certain activities between years 
one and four of the survey. For example, the volumes of visits involving running have 
increased significantly. 

  

13 (<1%)

13(<1%)

13 (<1%)

15 (1%)

29 (1%)

31 (1%)

42 (1%)

42 (1%)

44 (2%)

65 (2%)

67 (2%)

75 (3%)

80 (3%)

94 (3%)

97 (3%)

173 (6%)

235 (8%)

769 (27%)

1,383 (49%)

0 250 500 750 1000 1250 1500

Fieldsports

Swimming outdoors

Watersports

Fishing

Off road cycling, MTB

Horse riding

Appreciating scenery from your car

Picnicking

Visits to a beach, sunbathing, paddling

Informal games and sport

Road cycling

Wildlife watching

Sightsee, picnic, drive

Running

Visiting an attraction

Eating or drinking out

Playing with children

Walking, not with a dog

Walking with a dog

Million visits

Page 55



34 

Table 5-1  Estimated volume of visits to the natural environment by activities undertaken 
Q4 Which of these activities, if any, did you undertake? (Base: All visits, weekly questions 2009/10 
N=58,653; 2010/11 N=47,825; 2011/12 N=53,898; 2012/13 N=53,208) 
 

 Volume of visits (millions) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Walking with a dog 1,380.2 1,267.5 1,384.2 1,382.6 

Walking, not with a dog 738.8 660.2 724.6 768.6 

Playing with children 228.8 211.5 251.1 235.0 

Eating/ drinking out 181.5 142.0ê 159.8 173.1 

Visiting an attraction 109.4 88.6ê 85.5 96.7 

Running 79.8 74.0 86.7 94.3 

Wildlife watching 76.7 69.8 78.7 75.2 

Road cycling 64.5 49.6ê 55.7 67.0é 

Informal games and sport 85.2 66.1ê 75.2 65.2 

Beach/ sunbathing/ paddling in sea 50.9 50.3 50.6 43.7 

Appreciating scenery from your car 52.8 48.3 51.5 41.9ê 

Picnicking 52.8 45.7 57.9é 41.8ê 

Horse riding 35.8 27.1ê 33.1é 31.0 

Off-road cycling/ mountain biking 34.3 26.3ê 28.2 29.4 

Fishing 17.2 14.8 16.6 14.8 

Watersports 16.1 10.9ê 13.3é 13.2 

Swimming outdoors 16.1 12.9 10.8ê 12.7é 

Fieldsports 15.3 10.1ê 9.2 12.6 

Total 2,858 2,494ê 2,727é 2,849 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

5.6 Further analysis highlights the variations between population groups in the proportions of 
visits involving the ‘top four’ activities (Table 5-2 overleaf). Most notably, over half of the 
visits taken by people aged 45 to 65, members of the C2 and DE socio-economic groups 
and residents of town/fringe and rural areas involved dog walking.   

5.7 Playing with children was more likely to feature in visits taken by people aged 25 to 44 and 
members of the BAME population. 

 

  

Page 56



 

35 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 5-2  Activities undertaken on visit by demographics (% of visits taken by each group 
including top four activities) 
Q4 Which of these activities, if any, did you undertake? (Base: All visits, weekly questions 2012/13 N=53,208 
 

 
Walking with 

a dog % 
Walking, not 
with a dog % 

Eating/ 
drinking out % 

Playing with 
children % 

All visits 49 27 8 6 

By age     

16 – 24 37 26 9 7 

25 – 44 44 24 7 17 

45 – 64 57 25 5 4 

65+ 47 36 5 2 

By socio-economic group     

AB 45 29 6 8 

C1 46 28 7 7 

C2 53 22 5 8 

DE 53 26 5 9 

By working status     

Working full time 50 24 6 10 

Retired 48 35 5 2 

Still in education 29 31 10 5 

Unemployed 49 27 5 15 

Ethnicity     

White  51 26 6 8 

BAME 9 44 12 19 

Long term illness/ disability     

Any  53 27 6 8 

None 48 27 12 19 

Children in household     

Any  44 24 6 22 

None 50 28 6 3 

Place of residence     

Urban 46 28 7 9 

Town/ fringe 58 22 5 5 

Rural 59 22 4 4 

Page 57



36 

5.8 There were also significant differences in the types of activities undertaken on visits to 
different types of destination (Table 5-3). Walking a dog was most popular in the 
countryside while walking without a dog was more likely to be undertaken at coastal 
destinations. Eating and drinking were more likely to feature in visits to seaside resorts or 
towns. 

Table 5-3  Activities undertaken on visits by type of place visited (%) 
Q4 Which of these activities, if any, did you undertake? (Base: All visits, weekly questions 2012/13 
N=53,208) 
 

 Type of place visited 

 
Town or city % Countryside % 

Seaside 
resort or town % 

Seaside 
coastline % 

Walking with a dog 41 58 33 45 

Walking not with a 
dog 29 23 39 34 

Playing with children 11 5 11 8 

Eating or drinking out 8 3 13 7 

Sightsee, picnic, drive 2 3 7 6 

Visiting an attraction 4 3 5 3 

Wildlife watching 1 4 2 5 

Informal games and 
sport 3 2 1 1 

Running 4 3 2 2 

Picnicking 1 1 3 4 

Road cycling 2 3 1 1 

Appreciating scenery 
from your car 1 2 4 3 

Visits to a beach, 
sunbathing or 
paddling in the sea - - 15 11 

Horse riding - 2 - - 

Off-road cycling or 
mountain biking 1 2 1 1 

Fishing - 1 1 2 

Swimming outdoors - - 2 2 

Watersports - - 1 4 

Notes: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have included more than one activity 

* Less than 0.5%. Table excludes activities undertaken in less than 0.5% of visits to all types of place. 

Party composition 

5.9 Children were present during 20 per cent of all visits, while 48 per cent of visits were taken 
by an adult on their own (Table 5-4). The overall average party size was 2.4. 

Page 58



 

37 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 5-4  Party composition (row %) 
(Base: Random visits, monthly questions 2012/13 N=4,034) 
 

 None 

% 

1 

% 

2 

% 

3 

% 

4 + 

% 

Total 

% 

Average  

Adults (aged 16 and over) - 56 32 5 8 100 2.0 

Children (aged under 16) 80 9 7 3 2 100 2.1 

Total party size - 48 27 9 15 100 2.4 

 
5.10 While fewer than half of all visits to the natural environment were taken alone, this 

proportion increased to 71 per cent if the visit was taken within one mile of home, 71 per 
cent if the visit was taken with a dog and 70 per cent if the visit was taken on foot. The 
average party size was largest on visits which involved a journey of over 20 miles (4.0 
people). 

Visits taken with children 

5.11 As shown in Figure 5-3, in 2012/13 at least one child was in the party in 20 per cent of the 
2.85 billion visits taken by adults. This equates to 568 million visits taken with children 
present. This estimate is lower than the estimated 619 million visits taken in 2009/10 but is 
not significantly different to the volumes of visits taken with children recorded in the other 
survey years. 

  
Figure 5-3  Estimated volume of visits taken with children under 16 in party (millions) 
(Base: Random visits, monthly questions 2009/10 N=4,755, 2010/11 N=3,973, 2011/12 N=4,421, 2012/13 
N=4,034) 
 

5.12 While 20 per cent of all visits taken by adults included one or more children in the party, this 
proportion increased to 54 per cent amongst people with children living in their household. 
Also, as shown in Figure 5-4, a higher proportion of the visits taken by people aged 
between 25 and 44, people working full or part time, members of the BAME population, 
residents of the most deprived areas and urban areas included children. 

2,239 
1,946 

2,130 2,281 

619 

548 
597 

568 

-

500 

1,000 

1,500 

2,000 

2,500 

3,000 

3,500 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

T
o

ta
l 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

v
is

it
s 

(m
il

li
o

n
s)

Survey year

Visits with at least once 

child in the party

Visits with no children 

in the party

Page 59



38 

 
 
Figure 5-4  Percentage of visits taken accompanied by children (aged under 16) by socio-
economic status, working status, ethnicity disability, Index of Multiple Deprivation and if urban/rural 
(%) 
Q13 How many children under 16 were on this visit? (Base: Random visits, monthly questions 2011/12 
N=4,034) 
 

5.13 The presence of children in a party has an impact on visit characteristics (Table 5-5 below), 
for example parks in towns and cities and country parks were more likely to be visited when 
children were present. Visits with children were also more likely to be taken by car but less 
likely to be taken on foot. 

14    

13    

22    

18    

19    

29    

21    

14    

18    

40    

27    

16    

6    

33    

20    

22    

21    

18    

5    

8    

16    

38    

40    

16    

20    

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

Rural

Town/fringe

Urban

Top 10%

11-89%

Bottom 10%

None

Any

White

BAME

Unemployed

Still in education

Retired

Working ft/ pt

DE

C2

C1

AB

65+

55-64

45-54

35-44

25-34

16-24

All visits

Percentage of visits

IM
D

A
g

e
S

o
ci

o
-e

co
n

o
m

ic

st
a

tu
s

W
o

rk
in

g
 s

ta
tu

s
E

th
n

ic
it

y
Lo

n
g

-t
e

rm

il
ln

e
ss

/d
is

a
b

il
it

y

U
rb

a
n

/r
u

ra
l

Page 60



 

39 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 5-5  Activities undertaken, distance travelled, mode of transport and type of place visited by 
presence of children in party (%) 
(Base: Random visits, monthly questions 2012/13 N=4,034) 
 

 Children under 16 in party 

% 

No children under 16 in party 

% 

Activities undertaken   

Walking with a dog 23 50 

Walking, not with a dog 34 27 

Playing with children 37 7 

Eating or drinking out 9 6 

Visiting an attraction 7 3 

Distance travelled   

Less than 1 mile 38 40 

1 or 2 miles 23 26 

3 to 5 miles 14 16 

Over 5 miles 25 18 

Transport used   

On foot 52 64 

Car or van 41 29 

Public transport (rail or bus) 4 3 

Other 3 4 

Type of place visited – general   

Town and city 53 42 

Countryside 35 48 

Seaside resort or town 8 6 

Seaside coastline 4 3 

Type of place visited – 
specific 

  

Park in a town or city 35 24 

Children’s playground 13 3 

Woodland or forest 9 13 

Country park 11 7 

Beach 9 6 

Paths, cycleway or bridleway 9 16 

 

  

Page 61



40 

Expenditure during visits 

5.14 27 per cent of visits to the natural environment incurred expenditure. Money was spent on 
food and drink in 21 per cent of all visits while spending on other categories, such as car 
parking and fuel, was restricted to a smaller proportion of visits15. Overall, the profile of 
expenditure is not significantly different to that recorded in previous years of the survey. 

 
Figure 5-5  Items purchased during visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q15 During this visit did you personally spend any money on any of the items listed on the screen? (Base: 
Random visit, monthly questions 2012/13 N=4,034) 
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could involve expenditure on more than one item. No 
expenditure category includes 3% or more don’t know responses. 

 

5.15 For every £1 spent on a visit to the natural environment, 54 pence was spent on food and 
drink with petrol and diesel accounting for 14 pence (Figure 5-6). 

 

 
15

 Respondents were asked about any expenditure incurred during their visit. Therefore, any money spent for 
the visit but not actually during it (for example, purchasing petrol the day before in preparation for the visit) 
was not included. However money spent during the visit on fuel which continued to be used after the visit 
was recorded. 

2

2

3

4

5

21

73

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Bus/train/ferry fares

Gifts/souvenirs

Admission fees

Car parking

Petrol/diesel

Food and drink

No expenditure

Percentage of visits

Page 62



 

41 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
Figure 5-6  Distribution of expenditure on visits by category of spend (%) 
Q15 During this visit did you personally spend any money on any of the items listed on the screen? (Base: 
Random visit, monthly questions 2012/13 N=4,034) 

 

5.16 Average levels of expenditure have not differed significantly between survey years 

5.17 In 2012/13, for those visits that incurred expenditure, the average spend per person per 
visit was £27.23 – similar to the spending levels recorded in 2011/12 (£28.16) 

5.18 When all visits are considered, including those where there was no expenditure, the 
average spend per person per visit during 2012/13 was £7.40. 

5.19 With 760 million visits involving expenditure, it is estimated that a total of around £21 billion 
was spent during visits to the natural environment between March 2012 and February 
201316.  

5.20 The estimated total annual expenditure has not varied significantly over the four years of 
surveying, remaining in the range of between £17 billion and £21 billion over this period. 

5.21 Certain types of visits were more likely than others to incur expenditure. Most notably, 80 
per cent of visits where the visit destination was over 20 miles away incurred spending, as 
did 60 per cent of those taken by people who normally took visits to the natural environment 
on an infrequent basis.   

  

 
16

 Taking account of margins of error, at the 95% confidence level estimated total expenditure ranges from 
£17.6 billion to £24.5 billion 

Food and drink

54%

Petrol and diesel

14%

Admission fees

9%

Gifts/souvenirs

6%

Hire or purchase of 

equipment

4%

Other items

13%

Page 63



42 

5.22 Visits to seaside resorts and towns were also significantly more likely to incur expenditure. 
In total, 50 per cent of visits to these places involved expenditure, which meant that while 
only seven per cent of visits were to seaside towns, this type of destination accounted for 
15 per cent of all expenditure (Figure 5-7). 

 

 
 

Figure 5-7  Distribution of expenditure on visits by destination type (%) 

Q15 During this visit did you personally spend any money on any of the items listed on the screen? (Base: 
Random visit, monthly questions 2012/13 N=4,034) 

Countryside, 

£7.9bn spent on 

visits

(37%)

Town and city, 

£8.6bn spent on 

visits

(41%)

Seaside resort or 

town, £3.2bn spent  

visits

(15%)

Other seaside 

coastline, £1.4bn 

spent on visits 

(7%)

Total - £21.1 billion

Page 64



 

43 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

6 Why? Motivations and barriers 

6.1 This section of the report focuses on motivations for visiting the natural environment, the 
potential benefits of visits and how the barriers that prevent or hinder participation vary 
between population groups.  

Headline results in this section 

· As in the previous three years, exercising dogs, personal health and exercise, relaxing 
and unwinding, enjoying fresh air and pleasant weather and enjoying scenery were the 
most frequently cited reasons for taking visits to the natural environment. 

· As a person gets older they are more likely to take visits for health or exercise, for fresh 
air or pleasant weather, to enjoy scenery, and to enjoy wildlife. 

· Between 2011/12 and 2012/13 the proportions of visits taken where the motivation was 
for health or exercise significantly increased from 37 per cent to 44 per cent. 

· Visits to the natural environment have been consistently shown to offer a number of 
benefits to those taking visits, with agreement particularly strong for outcomes such as 
enjoying visits, feeling calm and relaxed and/or refreshed and revitalised.  

· Those who had been on visits to mountain and moorland, woodland or the coast were 
more likely to indicate that they had experienced a positive outcome than those who had 
been on visits to green spaces in urban areas. 

· Infrequent visitors to the natural environment were most likely to cite being busy at work 
or poor weather as their main reasons for not being able to take visits to the natural 
environment more often. In 2012/13 there was a significant increase in the proportion of 
people citing bad weather, from five per cent in 2011/12 to 11 per cent in 2012/13, as a 
main reason for not visiting the natural environment. Also cost has increased in 
importance as a barrier over the four years of the survey from four per cent of 
respondents to seven per cent. 

Motivations for visits 

6.2 As in previous years, exercising a dog was the most frequently cited motivation for visiting 
the natural environment. In 2012/13, 47 per cent of visits were taken for this reason (see 
Figure 6-1). Other popular reasons for taking a visit included 44 per cent for health and 
exercise, 28 per cent to relax and unwind, 26 per cent for fresh air or to enjoy pleasant 
weather and 19 per cent to enjoy scenery17. 

 
17

 It should be noted that respondents were asked to specify all of the motivations for their visit and could 
select more than one of the answer options. Therefore, in some cases an individual visit is included in the 
total for more than one motivation. This means that the sum of the percentages is more than 100 per cent.  

 

Page 65



44 

 

 
Figure 6-1  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment (%) 
Q12 Which of the following, if any, best describe your reasons for this visit? (Base: Random visits, weekly 
questions 2012/13 N=16,429) 
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have been taken for more than one reason. 
 

6.3 Variations by gender are apparent, with 16 per cent of women mentioned entertaining 
children as a motivation for visits compared to just nine per cent of men. However, health 
and exercise was more likely to motivate the visits taken by men with 46 per cent providing 
this reason compared to 42 per cent of women. 

6.4 As in previous years, motivations also seem to be influenced by age; 53 per cent of people 
aged over 65 visited the natural environment for health or exercise, compared to 37 per 
cent of those aged 16 to 44.  

6.5 A similar pattern was recorded in relation to enjoying scenery and wildlife. 24 per cent of 
those aged 55 and over visited to enjoy scenery compared to 16 per cent of those under 
55, while 16 per cent of those aged 55 and over visited to enjoy wildlife compared to ten per 
cent of those aged under 55. 

6.6 Family related activities were particularly likely to be important for people aged 25 to 44 with 
22 per cent mentioning ‘entertaining children’ as a motive and an equal proportion citing 
‘spending time with family’. However younger people aged 16 to 24 were more likely to 
state that they were motivated to take visits by the chance to ‘spend time with friends’ with 
24 per cent providing this reason. 

6.7 Exercising a dog was a motivation in 51 per cent of visits taken by those in the C2DE socio-
economic groups while visits taken by members of the more affluent ABC1 socio-economic 
groups were more likely to be driven by a range of other factors. This included 47 per cent 
taking visits for health and exercise, 30 per cent to relax and unwind and 30 per cent for 
fresh air or to enjoy pleasant weather.  

6.8 Table 6-1 illustrates variations in the reasons for taking visits during the four survey years. 
The most notable change over this period is an increase in the proportion of visits where 
motivated by health and exercise.  

2

3

10

12

13

14

14

16

19

26

28

44

47

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

To learn something about the outdoors

To challenge yourself or achieve something

To spend time with friends

To enjoy wildlife

To entertain children

To be somewhere you like

To spend time with family

For peace and quiet

To enjoy scenery

For fresh air or to enjoy pleasant weather

To relax and unwind

For health or exercise

To exercise your dog

Percentage of visits

Page 66



 

45 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 6-1  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment by year (column %) 
Q12 Which of the following, if any, best describe your reasons for this visit? (Base: 2009/10 N=4,755, 
2010/11 N=3,973, 2011/12 N=4,421, 2012/13 N=16,429) 
 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

To exercise your dog 47 48 48 47 

For health or exercise 34 38é 37 44é 

To relax and unwind 25 26 28 28 

For fresh air or to enjoy 
pleasant weather 

21 24é 24 26 

To enjoy scenery 20 22 19ê 19 

For peace and quiet 15 16 15 16 

To be somewhere you like 10 12é 13 14 

To spend time with family 12 13 15 14 

To entertain children 11 11 12 13 

To enjoy wildlife 13 14 12 12 

To spend time with friends 9 9 10 10 

To challenge yourself or 
achieve something 

3 4 3 3 

To learn something about 
the outdoors 

2 2 2 2 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Notes: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have been taken for more than one reason 
Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

6.9 Table 6-2 compares the reasons given for taking visits to different types of destinations 
during 2012/13.   

6.10 In total 56 per cent of visits taken to the countryside were taken to exercise a dog, 49 per 
cent were taken for health or exercise reasons and 20 per cent were taken for peace and 
quiet. These proportions are higher than those recorded for visits taken to the other types of 
place. 

6.11 By comparison, the motivations for visits to the coast related to escaping and enjoying a 
change of scene - with 39 per cent taken to relax and unwind, 38 per cent taken to enjoy 
fresh air and pleasant weather and 33 per cent taken to enjoy scenery. 

6.12 Visits taken to urban places were largely motivated by a desire to exercise a dog or for 
health or exercise but these visits were much less likely to be driven by factors related to 
scenery, relaxation or seeking peace and quiet. 

6.13 Reflecting the change shown in Table 6-1, a significant increase was recorded between 
survey years in the proportions of visits taken to the countryside where the motivation was 
for health or exercise. 37 per cent of visits were taken for this purpose in 2009/10, a figure 
which rose to 49 per cent in 2012/13. 

Page 67



46 

Table 6-2  Reasons for taking visits to the natural environment by type of place visited (column %) 
Q12 Which of the following, if any, best describe your reasons for this visit? (Base: Random visits, March 
2012 monthly questions, April 2012 – February 2013 weekly questions 2012/13 N=16,429) 
 

 Type of place visited 

  

Town or city % 

 

Countryside % 
Seaside resort 

or town % 
Seaside 

coastline % 

To exercise your dog 40 56 33 37 

For health or exercise 39 49 43 39 

To relax and unwind 25 30 34 39 

For fresh air or to enjoy 
pleasant weather 20 30 35 38 

To enjoy scenery 11 25 29 33 

To spend time with family 14 13 22 22 

For peace and quiet 12 20 17 17 

To be somewhere you like 10 16 22 22 

To entertain children 16 9 16 15 

To enjoy wildlife 6 17 8 17 

To spend time with friends 12 8 12 14 

To challenge yourself or 
achieve something 2 4 3 5 

To learn something about 
the outdoors 1 2 2 5 

Total 100 100 100 100 

Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as visits could have been taken for more than one reason 

Outcomes of visits 

6.14 To explore some of the benefits or outcomes that people may experience from a visit to the 
natural environment, respondents were asked about the extent to which they agreed or 
disagreed with a series of statements18 relating to a visit they had taken over the previous 
seven days. 

6.15 In general responses were positive with 98 per cent of people stating that they enjoyed their 
visit to the natural environment (see Figure 6-2). 85 per cent agreed that their visit made 
them feel calm and relaxed, 82 per cent took time to appreciate their surroundings, 88 per 
cent felt refreshed and revitalised and 71 per cent agreed they felt close to nature.  

6.16 However a lower proportion – only 28 per cent of respondents - agreed that they had 
learned something new about nature while on the visit. 

 
18

 This question was included in the survey during one week of fieldwork per quarter. As such sample sizes 
are smaller than for other questions and results are subject to wider margins of error. 

Page 68



 

47 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
Figure 6-2  Outcomes of visits to the natural environment (%) 
E1 Thinking of this visit, how much do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (Base: Random 
visits, quarterly questions 2012/13 N=1,328)  
Note: Disagree and disagree strongly categories are aggregated as very small proportions provided the 
disagree strongly response. 
 

6.17 The analysis shown in Table 6-3 focuses on those ‘agreeing strongly’ with the various 
outcomes of visits to the natural environment, in order to highlight any variations in 
responses. 

6.18 Visit outcomes varied by type of place visited. In general, visits taken to a mountain and 
moorland or coastal environment had the most positive outcomes while those taken in 
parks in towns or cities, or green spaces in villages were less positive. 

6.19 In terms of motivations, visits taken to enjoy scenery were generally most positive while 
those taken to exercise a dog or for health and exercise reasons were less likely to have 
such positive outcomes. 

  

7

20

26

29

30

45

21

51

56

59

55

53

28

15

8

6

9

1

44

15

10

5

6

0 20 40 60 80 100

I learned something new about the 

natural world

I felt close to nature

I took time to appreciate my 

surroundings

It made me feel refreshed and 

revitalised

It made me feel calm and relaxed

I enjoyed it

Percentage of visits

Agree strongly Agree Neither Disagree/ Disagree strongly

Page 69



48 

Table 6-3  Outcomes of visits to the natural environment by place visited and visit motivations (% 
agreeing strongly with each statement) 
E1 Thinking of this visit, how much do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (Base: Random 
visits, quarterly questions 2012/13 N=1,328) 
 

  

I 
e
n

jo
y
e
d

 i
t 

It
 m

a
d

e
 m

e
 f

e
e
l 

c
a
lm

 a
n

d
 

re
la

x
e
d

 

It
 m

a
d

e
 m

e
 f

e
e
l 
re

fr
e
s
h

e
d

 

a
n

d
 r

e
v
it

a
li
s
e
d

 

I 
to

o
k
 t

im
e
 t

o
 a

p
p

re
c
ia

te
 

s
u

rr
o

u
n

d
in

g
s
 

I 
fe

lt
 c

lo
s
e
 t

o
 n

a
tu

re
 

I 
le

a
rn

e
d

 s
o

m
e
th

in
g

 a
b

o
u

t 

th
e
 n

a
tu

ra
l 
w

o
rl

d
 

 % % % % % % 

All visits 45 30 29 26 20 7 

Specific type of place visited       

Beach 50 25 31 25 23 5 

Other coastline 55 49 48 28 18 12 

Country Park 43 32 35 18 27 3 

Farmland 63 32 28 30 29 12 

Mountain or moorland 85 65 52 62 46 23 

Other open space in countryside 58 45 31 20 26 8 

Other open space in town 45 27 27 23 12 5 

Park in town 37 26 22 20 11 5 

Path, cycleway or bridleway 46 38 33 22 21 6 

Children’s playground 49 44 24 24 37 6 

Playing field/other recreation area 42 26 29 22 19 4 

River lake of canal 49 28 31 28 25 5 

Village 37 19 16 18 12 3 

Woodland/forest 69 37 38 36 29 10 

Visit motivation*       

To exercise your dog 46 33 31 27 22 6 

For health or exercise 49 20 32 25 22 8 

To relax and unwind 57 42 33 32 26 12 

For fresh air or to enjoy pleasant weather 54 44 34 34 27 10 

To enjoy scenery 56 48 37 37 33 11 

Note: *Top 5 motivations shown  

Page 70



 

49 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Reasons for not visiting 

6.20 Respondents who had not taken any visits or who had only made infrequent visits to the 
natural environment were asked about their reasons for not participating more. Those 
reasons provided by three per cent or more of respondents are included in Figure 6-3. 

 

Figure 6-3  Barriers to participation amongst infrequent and non-participants (%) 
Q18 Why have you not spent any/more of your time out of doors? (Base: Infrequent and non-participants, 
monthly questions 2012/13 N=908 visit once or twice every 2-3 months, N=901 visit less often, N=1,055 
Non-participants)  
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as respondents could specify more than one reason. 
 

6.21 Being too busy continues to be the barrier most often cited by infrequent participants. A 
third of those who take visits to the natural environment once every two or three months 
cited being busy at work as a barrier and 21 per cent felt restricted by being busy at home. 

6.22 Amongst those who typically never visit the natural environment, issues relating to health 
and age continue to be given as the main constraints to taking more visits. Poor health was 
specifically mentioned as a barrier by 21 per cent of this group while 16 per cent mentioned 
old age. Also 18 per cent of those who never visit stated that they had ‘no particular reason’ 
for not visiting the outdoors. 

 
  

2

3

4

4

8

5

14

8

21

11

14

33

4

3

5

6

7

7

12

10

13

15

16

22

2

2

3

6

6

11

6

16

10

21

18

17

0 10 20 30 40

Have young children

Prefer other leisure activities

No car access

Not interested

Too expensive

A physical disability

Poor weather

Old age

Too busy at home

Poor health

No particular reason

Too busy at work

Percentage of population group

Never visit Visit less often Visit once every 2-3 months

Page 71



50 

Table 6-4  Reasons for not visiting the natural environment more often by survey year (%) 
Q18 Why have you not spent any/more of your time out of doors? (Base: Infrequent and non-participants, 
monthly questions 2009/10 N=3,121; 2010/11 N=2,889; 2011/12 N=2,742 2012/13 N=2,864) 
 

 Reason for not spending more time out of doors 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

Too busy at work 27 24 26 24 

Too busy at home 18 18 17 15 

No particular reason 16 17 17 16 

Poor health 14 15 14 16 

Old age 12 12 11 12 

Physical disability 8 8 8 8 

Too expensive 4 3 6 7 

Bad/poor weather 8 8 5 11é 

Not interested 6 6 5 5 

No car access 3 3 3 4 

Notes: Sum of totals is not 100% as the table does not include all of the reasons that could be provided and respondents 
could specify more than one reason. Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows. 

6.23 As shown in Table 6-4, the proportion of infrequent visitors and non-participants mentioning 
most of the barriers has not varied significantly over the four survey years. However, cost 
as a barrier continued to increase (from four per cent to seven per cent between 2009/10 
and 2012/13), while mentions of poor weather rose to 11 per cent in 2012/13 from just five 
per cent in the previous year. 

6.24 As shown in Table 6-5, 51 per cent of those in the DE socio-economic group cited poor 
health, old age and/or a long-term illness or disability as a reason for not participating more 
often, while 24 per cent of those in the BAME population mentioned being busy at home. 

6.25 When asked about the barriers to visiting, 30 per cent of men mentioned being too busy at 
work, a higher proportion than the 19 per cent of women who mentioned this reason. The 
higher proportion of men citing this barrier has been a consistent finding throughout all four 
years of the survey.  

6.26 Conversely poor health or old age was mentioned as a barrier by 43 per cent of woman 
compared to just 27 per cent of men. 

6.27 Comparing responses by age, a lack of interest or ‘no particular reason’ was provided as a 
response by 40 per cent of those aged 16 to 24 compared to 16 per cent of the population 
as a whole. In addition, 39 per cent of 25 to 44 year olds mentioned being busy at work 
compared to 24 per cent of the English adult population overall. 

 

  

Page 72



 

51 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 6-5  Reasons for not visiting the natural environment more often by demographics (row %) 
Q18 Why have you not spent any/more of your time out of doors? (Base: Infrequent and non-participants, 
monthly questions 2012/13 N=2,864) 
 

 Reason for not spending more time out of doors 

 Too busy at 
home % 

Too busy 
at work % 

No particular reason or 
not interested % 

Poor health, old age or 
physical disability % 

Total 15 24 22 35 

Sex     

Male 14 30 23 27 

Female 16 19 21 43 

Age     

16-24 14 24 40 2 

25-44 19 39 23 4 

45-64 20 32 21 24 

65+ 7 2 14 87 

Socio-economic 
status 

    

AB 17 31 18 33 

C1 17 30 21 27 

C2 14 27 24 22 

DE 13 15 22 51 

Working status     

Working ft/ pt 19 48 22 5 

Retired 8 1 15 84 

Still in education 15 15 47 1 

Unemployed 18 3 26 31 

Ethnicity     

BAME  24 36 23 10 

White 13 21 21 42 

Long-term illness/ 
disability 

    

Any 7 7 12 89 

None 19 32 26 11 

Children in 
household 

    

Any 25 33 21 6 

None 12 22 22 43 

Urban/ rural     

Urban 15 25 22 34 

Town/fringe 11 16 22 58 

Rural 14 20 17 42 

Note: Sum of totals is not 100% as the table does not include all of the reasons that could be provided and respondents 
could specify more than one reason 

Page 73



52 

7 Other engagement with the natural 
environment 

7.1 A series of questions were included in the survey to capture information about the other ways 
in which people enjoy and appreciate the natural environment. These include attitudes 
towards the natural environment and questions about how people try to protect the 
environment. This section of the report summarises the key findings from these questions.  

Headline results in this section 

· In addition to visits to outdoor places, MENE records other ways that people enjoy and 
appreciate the natural environment by asking about participation in other activities such 
as gardening and watching nature programmes. Relaxing in the garden, choosing to 
walk through parks/ green spaces en-route to other places and gardening were the 
most frequently undertaken of these activities.  

· Participation in these activities generally increased with age. Also, those in the AB 
socio-economic grouping, those living in the most affluent, those living in rural areas 
and those in paid employment were more likely than other people to have undertaken 
one or more of the activities asked about.  

· A general appreciation of natural places was evident with 48 per cent of the population 
strongly agreeing that it is important to have green spaces close to where they live and 
43 strongly agreeing that they are glad that natural places exist even if they never visit 
them. 

· Having green spaces close to home and spending time outdoors tends to be seen as 
more important for older people, retired people, those in the AB socio-economic group, 
and those of a White background. 

· There is a correlation between how frequently people visit the natural environment and 
their likelihood to appreciate it and be concerned about environmental damage. 
Frequency of visit taking is also correlated to frequency of participation in pro-
environmental behaviours such as recycling and preferring to buy seasonal and locally 
grown food. These results are consistent with those recorded during previous survey 
years. 

· Respondents were also asked about the extent to which they were willing or able to 
change their current behaviour to address environmental concerns. Over the past four 
years, the proportion of the population unwilling to change their lifestyle has increased 
from 26 per cent to 32 per cent. 15 per cent of the population expressed an intention to 
make changes to their lifestyle in 2012/13, with younger members of the population 
most likely to indicate a willingness to alter their lifestyle. 

· In terms of pro-environmental behaviours, 78 per cent of the population said that they 
usually recycled items rather than throwing them away, while 43 per cent chose to walk 
or cycle instead of using a car. Furthermore, 39 per cent of people stated that they 
usually bought seasonal or locally grown food19. 

Other activities involving the natural environment 

7.2 Overall, 94 per cent of the population undertook one or more of the activities shown in Figure 
7-1, equal to the proportion recorded in 2011/12. 

7.3 Sitting or relaxing in a garden was undertaken by 62 per cent of the population, while 54 per 
cent walked through local parks or green spaces on their way to another destination, and 52 

 
19

 See Figure 7-5 for the statement wording used for this question 

Page 74



 

53 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

per cent took part in gardening. These figures have not varied significantly over the survey 
years.  

7.4 Many people also chose indirect or passive ways of enjoying the natural environment. In total 
53 per cent listened to a nature programme on the radio or watched one on television, while 
43 per cent looked at natural scenery from the indoors or on a journey. In addition, 35 per 
cent watched wildlife and 30 per cent looked at books, photos or websites relating to the 
natural world. 

 
Figure 7-1  Other activities involving the natural environment (%) 
E3 Which of the following activities involving the natural environment do you take part in? (Base: All 
respondents, quarterly questions 2012/13 N=3,528) 
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as respondents could have undertaken more than one activity. 
 

7.5 Participation in any of the activities asked about in Figure 7-1 generally increased with age. 
63 per cent of those aged 55 and over watch or listen to nature programmes compared to 41 
per cent of those aged 16 to 34. Likewise, those aged 55 and over were more likely to sit or 
relax in the garden - 66 per cent compared to 56 per cent of 16-34 year olds.   

7.6 Members of the BAME population were less likely than the rest of the population to take part 
in any of these activities. Here, 42 per cent of those in the BAME population indicated that 
they sit or relax in the garden compared to 65 per cent of those of White ethnicity. Similarly a 
smaller proportion took part in gardening - 32 per cent of the BAME population compared to 
56 per cent of those of White ethnicity.  

7.7 In total 97 per cent of those in the AB socio-economic groups participated in one or more of 
the activities shown in Figure 7-1 compared to 90 per cent of those in the DE socio-economic 
groups. 

7.8 Those living in the least deprived areas of England were also more likely than those living in 
the most deprived areas to have taken part in any of these activities. For example, 73 per 

7

30

35

43

52

53

54

62

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Doing unpaid voluntary work out of doors

Looking at books, photos or websites about the natural 

world

Watching wildlife

Looking at natural scenery from indoors or whilst on 

journeys

Gardening

Watching or listening to nature programmes on the TV 

or radio 

Choosing to walk through local parks or green spaces 

on my way to other places

Sitting or relaxing in a garden

Percentage of population

Page 75



54 

cent of those in the least deprived areas indicated that they took part in sitting or relaxing in 
the garden compared to 51 per cent of those living in the most deprived areas. Likewise, 66 
per cent of those living in the least deprived areas took part in gardening compared to 36 per 
cent of residents of the most deprived areas in England. 

7.9 Differences were also recorded by working status With 59 per cent of people who were in 
paid employment choosing to walk through local parks and green spaces on their way to 
other places, a larger proportion than recorded amongst people who were retired or not in 
employment. This could include walking to work or other routine journeys taken on foot.   

7.10 On the other hand, reflecting some of the differences seen by age, retired people were more 
likely than those working full time to undertake other activities – most notably 65 per cent 
took part in gardening and 65 per cent in sitting or relaxing in the garden. 

7.11 As shown in Table 7-1 the groups least likely to be engaged with the natural environment in 
any way included those aged 16 to 24, members of the DE socio-economic group, those 
living in the most deprived areas and members of the BAME population. 

 
  

Page 76



 

55 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 7-1  Participation in other activities involving the natural environment by age, socio-
economic status, ethnicity, disability, Index of Multiple Deprivation, children in household (%) 
E3 Which of the following activities involving the natural environment do you take part in? Please choose 
everything you do, both regularly and occasionally. (Base: All respondents, quarterly questions 2012/13 
N=3,528) 
 

 Percentage of population (%) 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

Age     

16-24 84 84 89 89 

25-44 94 92 94 94 

45-64 96 96 96 95 

65+ 95 95 94 95 

Socio-economic group     

AB 98 96 98 97 

C1 95 94 94 94 

C2 92 93 94 94 

DE 89 88 90 90 

Working status     

Full/ part-time 94 94 95 94 

Retired 95 95 95 95 

Still in education 83 81 88 91 

Unemployed 91 87 89 92 

Ethnicity     

White 94 95 95 95 

BAME 88 79 88 87 

Long-term illness/ disability     

Any 94 93 92 93 

None 93 92 94 94 

Index of multiple deprivation     

Top 10% 98 96 98 96 

Mid 11% to 89% 93 93 94 94 

Bottom 10% 90 84 89 90 

Children in household     

Any children in household 94 93 94 94 

No children in household 93 92 95 94 

 

Page 77



56 

7.12 As shown in Table 7-2, those who never visited the natural environment were also less likely 
than frequent visitors to undertake other activities.  

Table 7-2  Other activities involving the natural environment by frequency of participation in visits 
(column %) 
E3 Which of the following activities involving the natural environment do you take part in? Please choose 
everything you do, both regularly and occasionally. (Base: All respondents, quarterly questions 2009/10 
N=3,549; 2010/11 N=3,568; 2011/12 N=3,544; 2012/13 N=3,528) 
 

 Frequency of natural environment visits 

 

 

Frequent % 

 

Infrequent % 

Non 

Participants % 

Any undertaken 97 94 88 

Sitting or relaxing in a garden 68 58 43 

Choosing to walk through local parks or 
green spaces on my way to other places 

67 44 21 

Gardening 58 48 37 

Watching or listening to nature 
programmes on the TV or radio 

57 49 42 

Looking at natural scenery from indoors 
whilst on journeys 

48 40 23 

Watching wildlife (including bird watching) 38 33 22 

Looking at books, photos or websites 
about the natural world 

34 27 18 

Doing unpaid voluntary work out of doors 9 6 3 

 
7.13 Only two per cent of the English adult population indicated that they never visited the natural 

environment and that they had also not undertaken any of the other forms of engagement 
with the natural environment featured in Table 7-2. This is similar to the proportion recorded 
in previous years. 

Attitudes to the natural environment 

7.14 To provide further insight, respondents were presented with a series of statements which 
were designed to elicit their general attitudes towards the environment and its relative 
importance in their lives. For each statement, a five-point scale from ‘agree strongly’ to 
‘disagree strongly’ was used. In Figure 7-2 the ‘disagree’ and ‘disagree strongly’ categories 
have been combined because of the relatively small proportions selecting these options. 

7.15 The strongest level of agreement was with the statement relating to the importance of close 
to home green spaces with 48 per cent of the population agreeing strongly. 

7.16 A general appreciation of natural places was evident with 42 per cent of the population 
agreeing strongly that, while they may never visit them, they are glad that natural places 
exist. 

 

Page 78



 

57 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

 
Figure 7-2  Attitudes to the natural environment (%) 
E2 How much do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (Base: All respondents, quarterly 
questions 2012/13 N=3,528) 
Note: Disagree and disagree strongly categories are aggregated as very small proportions provided the 
disagree strongly response. 
 

7.17 In total 85 per cent of the population agreed that they were concerned about damage to the 
natural environment. However as in previous years the proportion agreeing strongly, 33 per 
cent, was lower than for any of the other statements.  

7.18 Strong agreement with all of the statements has consistently been higher amongst older age 
groups, those in higher socio-economic groups, those living in the most affluent areas of 
England and amongst those with a White ethnic background. 

7.19 In addition, as shown in Figure 7-3, the more often a person visited the natural environment, 
the more likely they were to express agreement with the various statements. In particular, 48 
per cent of those who visited the outdoors at least once a week agreed strongly that 
spending time out of doors is an important part of their life and 56 per cent agreed strongly 
that having green spaces close to where they live is important.  

33

40

42

48

52

47

51

44

10

7

5

5

5

6

2

3

0 20 40 60 80 100

I am concerned about 

damage to the natural 

environment

Spending time out of doors 

(including my own garden) 

is an important part of my 

life

There are many natural 

places I may never visit but 

I am glad they exist

Having open green spaces 

close to where I live is 

important

Percentage of adult population

Agree strongly Agree Neither Disagree/ Disagree strongly

Page 79



58 

 
Figure 7-3  Attitudes to the natural environment by frequency of visits to the natural environment 
(% agreeing strongly with statements) 
E2 How much do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (Base: All respondents, quarterly 
questions 2012/13 N=3,528) 
 

7.20 When asked about the extent to which they were willing or able to change their current 
behaviour to address environmental concerns (Table 7-3). 24 per cent of respondents felt 
that it would be difficult for them to do more to protect the environment, while 32 per cent 
indicated that they liked their lifestyle and were unwilling to change. Only 15 per cent of the 
population expressed an intention to make changes to their lifestyle.  

Notably since the 2009/10 survey, the proportion of the population unwilling to change their 
lifestyle has increased significantly from 26 per cent to 32 per cent.  

  

36

48

46

56

31

32

42

43

26

29

36

36

0 20 40 60

I am concerned about damage to the 

natural environment

Spending time out of doors (including 

my garden) is an important part of my 

life

There are many natural places I may 

never visit but I am glad they exist

Having open green spaces close to 

where I live is important

Percentage of popultion group

Less often or never Once or twice a month A least once a week

Page 80



 

59 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Table 7-3  Changing lifestyle to protect the natural environment (%) 

E5. Which of these statements best describes your intentions? (Base: All respondents, quarterly questions 
2009/10 N=3,549; 2010/11 N=3,586; 2011/12 N=3,544; 2012/13 N=3,528) 
 

 Percentage of population (%) 

 2009/10 % 2010/11 % 2011/12 % 2012/13 % 

I intend to make changes to my lifestyle 18 16 18 15ê 

I’d make changes to my lifestyle if I knew 
other people were willing to make changes 

6 4ê 4 4 

I’d like to make changes to my lifestyle but 
it’s too difficult 

8 7 7 7 

I’d like to make changes to my lifestyle but I 
don’t know what to do 

6 7 7 6 

I already do a lot to protect the environment 
so it would be difficult to do more 

26 25 23 24 

I like my lifestyle the way it is and not likely to 
change it 

26 29 32 32 

Note: Statistically significant year-on-year changes are highlighted by up or down arrows 

7.21 The results presented in Table 7-4 indicate that older people are more likely than those in 
younger age groups to believe that they behave in the best interests of the environment and 
could not do more. For instance, 35 per cent of people aged 65 and over believe they are 
doing as much as they can for the environment, compared to just 12 per cent of those aged 
16 to 34. Also 21 per cent of respondents aged below 35 indicated that they intended to 
make changes to their lifestyle to protect the environment compared to just four per cent of 
those aged 65 and over. 

7.22 In terms of differences relating to ethnicity, 23 per cent of the BAME population intend to 
make changes to their lifestyle compared to just 14 per cent of the rest of the population - 
who are more likely to indicate that they already do enough for the environment. These 
findings are consistent with those recorded in previous years. 

7.23 Intention to make lifestyle changes also varies by socio-economic grouping. When asked 
about their intention to make changes to their lifestyle to protect the environment, 17 per cent 
of those in the AB socio-economic groupings responded that they would, compared to 11 per 
cent of those in the DE groupings. 

  

Page 81



60 

Table 7-4  Future intentions by age, socio-economic status, working status, ethnicity, long term 
illness/disability and rural/urban place of residence (row %) 
E5. Which of these statements best describes your intentions? (Base: All respondents, quarterly questions 
2012/13 N=3,528) 
 

 
I intend 

to make 
changes to 
protect the 

natural 
environment 

% 

Would make 
changes if 

other people 
were willing 

to make 
changes 

% 

Would like to 
make 

changes but 
don’t know 
what to do 

or too 
difficult 

% 

 

Already do a 
lot – would 
be difficult 
to do more 

% 

Like lifestyle 
the way it is 

and not 
likely to 
change 

% 

 

 

 

Don’t know 

% 

Total 15 4 13 24 32 10 

Age       

16-24 21 5 17 12 31 13 

25-44 21 5 17 21 25 11 

45-64 14 5 12 25 35 8 

65+ 4 2 8 35 41 10 

Socio-economic 
group 

      

AB 17 4 13 27 32 6 

C1 18 4 16 24 28 10 

C2 14 5 12 24 33 12 

DE 11 5 14 20 36 14 

Working status       

Full/ part-time 18 5 15 22 30 10 

Retired 6 3 8 33 40 10 

Still in education 25 6 17 13 28 12 

Unemployed 18 5 18 21 27 12 

Ethnicity       

BAME 23 5 17 14 29 12 

White 14 4 13 26 33 10 

Long-term illness/ 
disability 

      

Any 10 4 14 29 33 10 

None 17 5 14 23 32 10 

Urban/ rural       

Urban 16 5 14 23 32 10 

Town/fringe 15 1 13 25 37 10 

Rural 9 4 12 37 31 7 

 

Page 82



 

61 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Pro-environmental behaviours 

7.24 The survey also investigated whether people claim to be actively involved in pro-
environmental behaviours. 

 
Figure 7-4  Pro-environmental behaviours 
E4 Which of the following environment related activities do you do? (Base: All respondents, quarterly 
questions 2012/13 N=3,528) 
Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as respondents could have undertaken more than one activity 
 

7.25 In total, 90 per cent of the population undertook one or more of the pro-environmental 
behaviours illustrated in Figure 7-4, a proportion that has not varied significantly since 
2009/10.  

7.26 78 per cent said that they usually recycled items rather than throwing them away, while 43 
per cent chose to walk or cycle instead of using their car and 39 per cent of people stated 
that they usually bought seasonal or locally grown food. The proportions undertaking each of 
these activities have not varied significantly over the course of the survey. 

7.27 As shown in Table 7-5, there is a correlation between the frequency of visit to the natural 
environment and pro-environmental behaviours, with frequent visitors significantly more likely 
to undertake these activities than non-participants. 

  

6

7

25

26

39

43

78

0 20 40 60 80 100

I volunteer to help care for the environment

I am a member of an environmental or conservation 

organisation

I usually buy eco friendly products and brands

I encourage other people to protect the 

environment

I usually buy seasonal or locally grown food

I choose to walk or cycle instead of using my car 

when I can

I usually recycle items rather than throw them away

Percentage of adult population

Page 83



62 

Table 7-5  Pro-environmental behaviours by frequency of natural environment visits (column %) 
E4 Which of the following environment related activities do you do? (Base: All respondents, quarterly 
questions 2012/13 N=3,528) 
 

 Frequency of natural environment visits 

 Frequent % Infrequent % Non-participants % All adults % 

Any undertaken 94 89 75 90 

Usually recycle items rather 
than throw them away 

82 76 60 78 

Choose to walk or cycle 
instead of using my car when I 
can 

53 35 20 43 

Usually buy seasonal or locally 
grown food 

45 34 26 39 

Encourage other people to 
protect the environment 

29 24 15 26 

Usually buy eco-friendly 
products and brands 

29 23 14 25 

Member of an environmental or 
conservation organisation 

9 6 4 7 

Volunteer to help care for the 
environment 

7 5 5 6 

Note: Sum of totals is more than 100% as respondents could have undertaken more than one activity 

 

 
  

Page 84



 

63 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Appendix 1 Summary of survey scope 
and methods 

Survey scope 

The main focus of the survey is on time spent visiting the natural environment. MENE collects 
details of both visits to the natural environment such as days out to the coast and countryside and 
more routine trips taken close to home for purposes such as dog walking or exercise, including 
those visits to urban green spaces.   

The methods used in MENE were developed through a scoping study undertaken in 2007. This 
study involved consultations with users to ensure that their information needs were taken into 
account; qualitative research with members of the public to test their understanding of potential 
questionnaire wording options; and the piloting of a range of quantitative data collection 
approaches using online, telephone and face-to-face methodologies. 

The scoping study informed the wording of the introductory text used in the survey (see below). 

Now I am going to ask you about occasions in the last week when you spent your time out 
of doors. 

By out of doors we mean open spaces in and around towns and cities, including parks, 
canals and nature areas; the coast and beaches; and the countryside including farmland, 
woodland, hills and rivers. 

This could be anything from a few minutes to all day. It may include time spent close to 
your home or workplace, further afield or while on holiday in England. 

However this does not include: 

· routine shopping trips; or 

· time spent in your own garden. 

This description aims to ensure that survey respondents are clear that visits to the natural 
environment taken in both urban and rural locations are of interest and that there is no upper or 
lower time limit on the duration of the visit. Respondents are informed that routine shopping trips 
and time spent in the garden are not included in the definition of a visit. Interviewers are also 
provided with further guidance to offer respondents who may be uncertain of what is and is not 
included within the definition of “a visit”. 

In comparison to previous leisure visits surveys, the broader scope of this survey provides a more 
complete picture of engagement with the natural environment including an accurate representation 
of levels of activity in close to home, informal visits, other forms of engagement with nature at 
home and pro-environmental behaviours. Collecting this data provides numerous opportunities for 
analysis and the development of a more informed understanding of how the population of England 
uses and enjoys the natural world. 

Survey method 

The 2007 scoping study aimed to identify the most appropriate survey methods to adopt in a study 
which aimed to measure participation in visits to the natural environment amongst the English adult 
population. Pilot surveys were undertaken using online, telephone and face-to-face approaches, 
allowing a direct comparison of the results obtained using each method. The study concluded that 

Page 85



64 

an in-home survey method was the most appropriate and that the inclusion of a series of questions 
on a weekly basis in a face-to-face consumer omnibus survey would represent the most cost 
effective approach for a study.  

The survey involves weekly waves of interviewing on the TNS in-home Omnibus Survey with 
respondents asked about visits taken in the seven days preceding the interview. In each wave, 
interviews are undertaken with a representative sample of the English adult population (aged 16 
and over) with a sample of at least 800 achieved across 100 sample points. 

The number of visits taken in each of the seven days and key details of these visits (type of place 
visited, duration of visit, activities undertaken) are recorded20. One of the visits taken is then 
randomly selected and the respondent is asked to provide more details on this single visit including 
type of place visited, specific location visited, distance travelled, where the visit started from and 
modes of transport used.  

While the majority of survey questions are included in every weekly wave of the survey, some are 
asked on a monthly basis. In addition, a series of questions regarding other forms of engagement 
with the natural environment, such as watching nature programmes on television and engagement 
in pro-environmental activities such as recycling, are asked on a quarterly basis. 

Fieldwork 

Fieldwork for Year 1 of MENE commenced in March 2009 and ran until February 2010. Year 2 
fieldwork continued immediately without any break, running from March 2010 to February 2011, 
Year 3 continued from March 2011 to February 2012 and Year 4 ran from March 2012 to February 
2013. 

During the 2012/13 survey period, 46,749 interviews were undertaken allowing the key details of 
53,208 visits to be collected, and more detailed information from 18,185 visits to be gathered. As 
shown in Table A, similar sample sizes were achieved in each of the preceding years. 

Table A  Annual sample sizes 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Respondents 48,514 46,099 47,418 46,749 

Visits 58,653 47,825 53,898 53,208 

Selected visits 20,374 17,389 19.014 18,185 

Analysis 

Sample sizes are much larger than those obtained in previous leisure visits surveys, offering the 
opportunity to analyse results at both a national level and at smaller geographic areas. Results can 
also be analysed for key groups within the population such as specific age groups, members of 
ethnic minorities and residents of particular types of geographic areas (for example, urban or rural). 
Also, the large sample of visits recorded in the survey facilitates analysis of results on the basis of 
a wide range of visit characteristics such as activities and places visited. The application of grid 
references (geocodes) to visit destinations provides opportunities for the mapping of results and 
the identification of visits taken to different types of place including designated areas. 

 

 
20

 The number of visits a respondent could be asked about was capped at 10 to avoid excessively long 
interview durations. Over the course of the year, 1% of respondents reported taking more than this maximum 
number of visits. Weighting procedures have taken account of this maximum allowance - see technical report 
for further details. 

Page 86



 

65 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Presentation of results 

It should be noted that in some of the figures and tables included in this report the results do not 
total to 100 per cent. This can be due to a number of reasons as follows: 

· Results are rounded to the nearest whole number. Therefore in some cases the totals 
of the rounded results may equal 99 per cent or 101 per cent. 

· In some questions respondents could provide more than one response (“multiple 
choice” - for example, the activities undertaken during a visit). In these cases the total of 
percentages may be well over 100 per cent. 

· In some figures and tables results relating to only some of the answer options are 
included. In these cases the percentages illustrated will total less than 100 per cent. 

A Technical Report is available from the Natural England website providing full details of survey 
methods including the full questionnaire. 

  

Page 87



66 

Appendix 2 Accuracy of survey results 

The following provides a summary of the margins of error associated with certain key results and 
‘rules of thumb’ to apply when interpreting the survey findings. 

Between March 2012 and February 2013 a total of 46,749 interviews were completed, and key 
details were collected for 53,208 visits, with additional details were collected on 18,185 selected 
visits. 

The table below illustrates the design effect associated with each of these samples. This is an 
indication of how much larger the sample variance is with the complex survey design used in 
MENE than it would be if the survey was based on the same sample size but selected randomly 
(i.e. a Simple Random Sample). 

Dividing the sample size by the design effect provides the effective sample size which, for a 
complex survey design, is an estimate of the sample size that would have been required to obtain 
the same level of precision in an SRS. In MENE the estimated effective sample size for respondent 
based results following the fourth year of interviewing is 22,837- 49 per cent of the actual achieved 
sample. 

The table also includes the design factor which is an inflation factor for the standard errors 
obtained using a complex survey design. The design factor is calculated as the square root of the 
design effect. In Year Four the design factor at the all respondent level of 1.43 indicates that 
standard errors for the 12 months’ data are 1.43 times as large as they would have been had the 
design been an SRS. 

Table B  Sample design effect and design factor 

 Total sample Design 
effect 

Design 
factor 

Effective sample 

Respondent based results 46,749 
respondents 

2.05 1.43 22,837 
respondents 

All visit based results 53,208 visits 2.05 1.43 26,020 visits 

Selected visit based results 18,185 visits 2.05 1.43 8,893 visits 

 
These design factors may be used to obtain an indication of the levels of accuracy of results 
obtained from MENE. 

For example with a Simple Random Sample, a result of 50 per cent with the total respondent 
sample of 46,749 would have a margin of error of +/-0.45 percentage points at the 95 per cent 
levels of confidence. Multiplying this value by 1.43 provides us with the margin of error when taking 
account of the MENE sample design i.e. +/-0.64 percentage points. 

Taking this approach the following margins of error may be estimated for certain key results from 
the fourth year of data collection: 

· 40.9 per cent of the population had visited the natural environment in the last seven 
days. This result ranges from 37.6 per cent to 44.3 per cent. 

· 54.7 per cent of the population stated that they normally visited the natural environment 
at least once a week. This result ranges from 53.6 per cent to 56.2 per cent. 

The following provides an indication of the general levels of accuracy of MENE results when 
applying the design factors described above. 

Page 88



 

67 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Respondent based results  

· Where the sample size is in excess of 40,000 respondents, the data will generally be 
accurate to around +/-0.6% at the 95% confidence level. 

· When the sample size is around 10,000 respondents, the data will generally be 
accurate to around +/-1.3% at the 95% confidence level. 

· Where the sample size is around 5,000 respondents, the data will generally be accurate 
to around +/-1.8% at the 95% confidence level. 

· Where the sample size is around 1,000 respondents, the data will generally be accurate 
to around +/-4.1% at the 95% confidence level. 

All visit based results 

· When the sample size is around 50,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-0.6% at the 95% confidence level. 

· When the sample size is around 20,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-0.9% at the 95% confidence level. 

· When the sample size is around 10,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-1.3% at the 95% confidence level. 

· Where the sample size is around 5,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-1.8% at the 95% confidence level. 

Selected visit based results 

· When the sample size is around 20,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-1% at the 95% confidence level. 

· When the sample size is around 10,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-1.5% at the 95% confidence level. 

· Where the sample size is around 5,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-2.1% at the 95% confidence level. 

· Where the sample size is around 1,000 visits, the data will generally be accurate to 
around +/-4.6% at the 95% confidence level. 

  

Page 89



68 

Estimates of total visits 

One of the outputs of MENE is a series of estimates of the total number of visits taken by adults in 
England between March 2012 and February 2013. The table below illustrates the upper and lower 
confidence limits associated with these estimates.  

Table C  Total number of visits taken by adults 

 12 month visit 
estimate‘000s 

visits 

Lower confidence 
limit 

‘000s visits 

Upper confidence 
limit 

‘000s visits 

All visits 2,849,081 2,791,653 2,906,509 

By specific place visited    

Playing field or other 
recreation area 

206,731 186,869 226,593 

Allotment or Community 
Garden 

22,420 16,638 28,203 

Another open space in a town 
or city 

247,703 

 

227,374 268,033 

Another open space in the 
countryside 

323,155 294,967 351,344 

Beach 170,437 154,715 186,160 

Children’s Playground 85,516 77,084 93,948 

Country Park 204,311 187,647 220,946 

Farmland 244,610 220,124 269,097 

Mountain, hill or moorland 73,009 62,170 83,844 

Park in town or city 709,861 675,438 744,287 

Path, cycleway or bridleways 448,256 414,988 481,525 

River, lake or canal 251,803 230,389 273,217 

Village 166,294 147,243 185,346 

Woodland or forest 356,575 328,194 384,956 

By general place visited    

Town or city 1,218,141 1,182,142 1,254,140 

Seaside resort or town 185,341 173,844 196,838 

Seaside coastline 98,967 89,750 108,184 

Countryside 1,346,632 1,303,947 1,389,317 

  

Page 90



 

69 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: Annual Report 

Estimates of expenditure during visits 

MENE also collects data on the amounts spent during visits to the natural environment. This data 
is then applied to estimates of the total volume of visits taken to obtain an estimate of the total 
amount spent on all visits taken over a 12 month period. The table below illustrates the confidence 
limits associated with these estimates. 

Table D  Expenditure during visits 

 12 month visit 
estimate 

Lower confidence 
limit 

Upper confidence 
limit 

Average spend per visit  

(excluding visits with no spend) 

£27.23 £22.80 £31.66 

Average spend per visit  
(including visits with no spend) 

£7.40 

 

£6.20 £8.60 

Estimated total spend all visits over 
12 month period 

£21.1 billion £17.6 billion £24.5 billion 

 
A Technical Report is available from the Natural England website providing full details of the 
survey accuracy. 

Page 91



70 

Appendix 3 Definitions of socio-
economic groups 

A UK: 3% of the population  

These are professional people, very senior managers in business or commerce, or are top-
level civil servants.  

Retired people, previously grade A, and their widows/ widowers. 

B UK: 18% of the population 

Middle management executives in large organisations, with appropriate qualifications. 

Principal officers in local government and civil service. 

Top managers or owners of small business concerns, educational and service 
establishments. 

 Retired people, previously grade B, and their widows/ widowers. 

C1 UK: 27% of the population 

Junior management, owners of small establishments, and all others in non-manual 
positions. 

Jobs in this group have very varied responsibilities and educational requirements. 

 Retired people, previously grade C1 and their widows/ widowers. 

C2 UK: 24% of the population 

All skilled manual workers, and those manual workers with responsibility for other people. 

 Retired people previously grade C2, with a pension from their job. 

 Widows/widowers, if receiving pensions from their late spouse's job. 

D UK: 16% of the population 

All semi skilled and unskilled manual workers, and apprentices and trainees to skilled 
workers. 

 Retired people, previously grade D, with a pension from their job. 

 Widows/widowers, if receiving pensions from their late spouse's job. 

E UK: 12% of the population 

All those entirely dependent on the state long term, through sickness, unemployment, old 
age or other reasons.   

Those unemployed for a period exceeding 6 months (otherwise classified on previous 
occupation). 

 Casual workers and those without a regular income. 

 Only households without a chief wage earner are coded in this group. 

Page 92



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

This report summarises the results of a survey of Local Access Forum (LAF) Chairs and 
Secretaries which ran between 8th to 28th March 2013. A total of 78 responses were received 
(77 online, 1 emailed) and thanks to everyone who took the time to complete it. Natural 
England (NE) will use this information to help it to prioritise its support to LAFs.  

Local support from Natural England

Do you know who your LAF local contact is in Natural England? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 88.41% 61 

2 No 11.59% 8

answered 69 

skipped 9

How would you rate the level of support from your LAF local contact? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 16.42% 11 

2 Good 34.33% 23 

3 Satisfactory 31.34% 21 

4 Poor 13.43% 9

5 Very poor 4.48% 3

answered 67 

skipped 11 

Common comments and suggestions re local support 

! More local communication with LAFs, Secretaries and Chairs. 

! A local NE contact be accessible to provide support, help and advice. 

! Promote LAFs locally to help attract new members. 

! Provision of training (e.g. Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment 
(MENE)) for LAF members and council support. 

! A joint memorandum of understanding between LAFs, Appointing Authorities (AA), 
NE and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). 

Page | 1 of 11 

Agenda Item 10

Page 93



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Regional support from Natural England

How would you rate the level of support from your LAF regional coordinator? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 52.24% 35 

2 Good 34.33% 23 

3 Satisfactory 13.43% 9

4 Poor 0.00% 0

5 Very poor 0.00% 0

answered 67 

skipped 11 

Common comments and suggestions re regional support 

! Renew the Regional Coordination (RC) budget for 2013/14  – RC role essential. 

! As well as regional Chairs meetings, ask LAFs if regional Secretaries meetings, 
training events and/or conferences would also be useful. 

! Attendance at some LAF meetings. 

National support from Natural England

How would you rate the level of support from Natural England nationally? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 7.25% 5

2 Good 28.99% 20 

3 Satisfactory 49.28% 34 

4 Poor 13.04% 9

5 Very poor 1.45% 1

answered 69 

skipped 9

Common comments and suggestions re national support 

! Quarterly 'update' newsletter. 

! More communication from NE to LAFs.

! Conference in Sheffield was good and helpful – hold similar again this year.

! Promote national consultations to LAFs via Huddle.

! NE to provide a list of the variety of support provided for LAFs. 

! Work on improving the national visibility of LAFs. 

! Feedback on how annual reports have been used. 

! LAF ideas taken to higher level and acted upon.

Page | 2 of 11 

Page 94



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Other contributions to LAFs from Natural England

How would you rate the level of support and advice from Natural England teams? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 5.88% 4

2 Good 33.82% 23 

3 Satisfactory 41.18% 28 

4 Poor 16.18% 11 

5 Very poor 2.94% 2

answered 68 

skipped 10 

Common comments and suggestions re other Natural England 
support

! An organisational chart/map giving relevant NE contacts/teams in these areas. 

! Newsletters from other NE teams on Huddle. 

Defra guidance

Are you aware of the Defra guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 2007? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 85.51% 59 

2 No 14.49% 10 

answered 69 

skipped 9

Do you use it? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 70.59% 48 

2 No 29.41% 20 

answered 68 

skipped 10 

Page | 3 of 11 

Page 95



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Does it need to be revised? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1
Yes (provide details 
below) 

45.61% 26 

2 No 54.39% 31 

answered 62 

skipped 16 

Answers for: If you answered 'Yes', how should it be revised? 32 answers 

Common comments and suggestions re Defra guidance 

! All sections should be checked to ensure up-to-date. 

! Some LAFs are advising on matters that fall outside the originally envisaged remit. It 
might be worth issuing advice on this in the LAF handbook. 

LAF handbook  

Are you aware of the LAF handbook? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 94.20% 65 

2 No 5.80% 4

answered 69 

skipped 9

Do you use it? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 58.21% 39 

2 No 41.79% 28 

answered 67 

skipped 11 

Page | 4 of 11 

Page 96



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Does it need to be revised? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes (provide details below) 56.14% 32 

2 No 43.86% 25 

answered 62 

skipped 16 

Answers for: If you answered 'Yes' what do you feel is missing or needs to be 
improved in the current version? 

40 answers 

Common comments and suggestions re LAF handbook 

! Should be revised (shorter, punchier) and web based Wiki style that can be edited. 

! Too large and should be discontinued. DEFRA guidance is more practical and should 
be the 'bible'. 

! Produce version similar to Scottish LAF handbook. 

Training

Does your appointing authority provide training for new LAF members? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 37.31% 25 

2 No 62.69% 42 

answered 67 

skipped 11 

If you answered 'Yes', how would you rate the training? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 8.70% 2

2 Good 43.48% 10 

3 Satisfactory 43.48% 10 

4 Poor 4.35% 1

5 Very poor 0.00% 0

answered 23 

skipped 55 

Page | 5 of 11 

Page 97



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Do you think some form of training should be organised nationally (or regionally) for 
new LAF members? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 82.09% 55 

2 No 17.91% 12 

answered 67 

skipped 11 

If you answered 'Yes', in what form would you like this training? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Booklet 52.46% 32 

2 Website 62.30% 38 

3 Job shadowing 4.92% 3

4 Mentoring 22.95% 14 

5 Other, please specify: 45.90% 28 

answered 61 

skipped 17 

Answers for: Other, please specify: 28 answers 

Common comments and suggestions re training 

! Produce a new member training 'pack'. 

! Update handbook to help new members. 

! Training element at national conference. 

Huddle

How would you rate Huddle for ease of use? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 11.86% 7

2 Good 22.03% 13 

3 Satisfactory 45.76% 27 

4 Poor 16.95% 10 

5 Very poor 3.39% 2

answered 59 

skipped 19 

Page | 6 of 11 

Page 98



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

How often do you use Huddle? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Daily 0.00% 0

2 Weekly 28.79% 19 

3 Monthly 34.85% 23 

4 Other, please specify: 36.36% 24 

answered 66 

skipped 12 

Answers for: Other, please specify: 24 answers 

How do you feedback information from Huddle to your LAF? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Email 39.34% 24 

2 At meetings 62.30% 38 

3 Don't feedback 21.31% 13 

4 Other, please specify: 18.03% 11 

answered 61 

skipped 17 

Answers for: Other, please specify: 11 answers 

Do you feel confident to join in discussions or post comments? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 67.24% 39 

2 No 32.76% 19 

answered 58 

skipped 20 

Do you feel confident to upload files or create / update Whiteboards? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 50.00% 30 

2 No 50.00% 30 

answered 60 

skipped 18 

Page | 7 of 11 

Page 99



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

How useful do you find each section on the LAF Workspace? 

Very good Good Satisfactory Poor Very poor 
Response 

Total 

Overview / Calendar? 
7.0% 
(3)

27.9% 
(12) 

41.9% 
(18) 

16.3% 
(7)

7.0% 
(3)

43 

Whiteboards? 
4.7% 
(2)

41.9% 
(18) 

37.2% 
(16) 

9.3% 
(4)

7.0% 
(3)

43 

Tasks? 
0.0% 
(0)

12.2% 
(5)

56.1% 
(23) 

22.0% 
(9)

9.8% 
(4)

41 

Discussions? 
17.0% 

(8)
42.6% 
(20) 

31.9% 
(15) 

6.4% 
(3)

2.1% 
(1)

47 

Files? 
4.7% 
(2)

46.5% 
(20) 

34.9% 
(15) 

11.6% 
(5)

2.3% 
(1)

43 

People? 
4.8% 
(2)

47.6% 
(20) 

31.0% 
(13) 

14.3% 
(6)

2.4% 
(1)

42 

answered 47 

skipped 31 

Overview / Calendar? Percent Total 

1 Very good 6.98% 3

2 Good 27.91% 12 

3 Satisfactory 41.86% 18 

4 Poor 16.28% 7

5 Very poor 6.98% 3

answered 47 

Whiteboards? Percent Total 

1 Very good 4.65% 2

2 Good 41.86% 18 

3 Satisfactory 37.21% 16 

4 Poor 9.30% 4

5 Very poor 6.98% 3

answered 47 

Tasks? Percent Total 

1 Very good 0.00% 0

2 Good 12.20% 5

3 Satisfactory 56.10% 23 

4 Poor 21.95% 9

5 Very poor 9.76% 4

answered 47 

Page | 8 of 11 

Page 100



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Discussions? Percent Total 

1 Very good 17.02% 8

2 Good 42.55% 20 

3 Satisfactory 31.91% 15 

4 Poor 6.38% 3

5 Very poor 2.13% 1

answered 47 

Files? Percent Total 

1 Very good 4.65% 2

2 Good 46.51% 20 

3 Satisfactory 34.88% 15 

4 Poor 11.63% 5

5 Very poor 2.33% 1

answered 47 

People? Percent Total 

1 Very good 4.76% 2

2 Good 47.62% 20 

3 Satisfactory 30.95% 13 

4 Poor 14.29% 6

5 Very poor 2.38% 1

answered 47 

Common comments and suggestions re Huddle 

! Promote Huddle and its use more.

! More pictures, graphics and graphs.

! Promote code of conduct/good practice of Huddle use – link related items, more 
focussed discussion, how to use Huddle more effectively.

! A ‘what’s new’ summary digest of key issues.

! Have an 'expert' available to comment on a specific topic for a short period.

! Promote Huddle guidance that email alerts can be turned off.

! Promote that Huddle is open to all LAF members.

Page | 9 of 11 

Page 101



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Annual reporting process

How clear and easy to follow did you find the annual reporting process this year? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 4.41% 3

2 Good 38.24% 26 

3 Satisfactory 45.59% 31 

4 Poor 10.29% 7

5 Very poor 1.47% 1

answered 68 

skipped 10 

Did you see a benefit from using the proforma? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 60.29% 41 

2 No 39.71% 27 

answered 68 

skipped 10 

How did you rate this year's annual reporting process? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Very good 7.35% 5

2 Good 30.88% 21 

3 Satisfactory 45.59% 31 

4 Poor 14.71% 10 

5 Very poor 1.47% 1

answered 68 

skipped 10 

Common comments and suggestions re annual reporting 

! Better and quicker feedback on how the information has been used. 

! Rename the proforma so it is not confused with LAFs Annual Reports for public 
consumption. 

! Promote the importance of Annual Work Plans for LAFs. 

! Revise the proforma but keep it as simple as possible. 

Page | 10 of 11 

Page 102



Local Access Forum Survey March 2013 Results

Page | 11 of 11 

Finally  

Do you feel that you are fairly treated by Natural England? 

Response 
Percent

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 92.19% 59 

2 No 7.81% 5

answered 64 

skipped 14 

Common comments and suggestions re possible additional support 
for LAFs 

! Help and encourage AAs to support their LAFs. 

! Reintroduce the English Access Forum. 

Page 103



PLANNING AND PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
 
I. Introduction 
 
1. Every year, hundreds of public ways are affected by development.  New housing, 

factories, warehouses, golf courses, quarries - any development can affect a public 
right of way.  Some developments succeed in preserving the route and character of 
ways or provide attractive replacements.  The increasing recognition of public ways, 
both as part of the transport infra-structure and as vital recreational and health 
assets, means that every effort should be made to incorporate ways into new 
developments and, if possible, to enhance them. 

 
2. The Rights of Way Review Committee has prepared this note to assist local authority 

officers, particularly rights of way officers and those who work in development 
control, to incorporate public ways into sites proposed for development.  It is hoped 
that the note will also be of use to developers and individuals making planning 
applications.  Rights of way officers are urged to make sure that their colleagues in 
development control (including those in district councils) have copies of this note.  It 
is also recommended that authorities consider publishing a simple guide to these 
procedures for developers—some authorities have done this eg Mid Bedfordshire 
District Council, Suffolk County Council and Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 
II. Planning applications 
 
3. The effect of a development on a public right of way is a material consideration in the 

determination of applications for planning permission.  Planning authorities are 
therefore asked to ensure that the effect on rights of way is taken into account when 
such applications are considered.  To achieve this end: 

 
a. Planning officers should ensure that there is a question on planning 

application forms about the existence of public rights of way within the site 
proposed for development, immediately adjacent to the application site, or 
along which access to the site is proposed either for the period of carrying out 
the development or permanently.  Forms should also advise where applicants 
can get precise information about the status, line and width of the public right 
of way to enable them to answer the question accurately, and ask for the 
depiction of definitive routes on the plans being submitted. 

 
b. Planning officers should check this information with the local authority 

officers responsible for highways and public rights of way. 
 

c. Rights of way officers should ensure that all rights of way affected by the 
development have been identified, by reference to the definitive map and any 
other information on ways acknowledged as public rights of way but which are 
not yet recorded on the definitive map. 

 
d. Planning officers should take into account applications to modify the 

definitive map or proposals the authority may have to do so, and the possible 
existence of higher rights on the ways shown on the definitive map (eg 
bridleway rights over ways shown as footpaths). Officers should look on the 
ground for ways apparent on site and in use by the public which are not 
recorded on the definitive map — the planning application may spark a claim. 

 
e. Where public rights of way cross a site proposed for development, planning 

officers should involve rights of way officers in any pre-application meetings 

Agenda Item 11

Page 104



Planning and public rights of way 

 

2

with the developer. 
 
f. Planning officers should involve public rights of way user groups in the 

procedure.  This can be done by making the weekly planning list available to 
them free of charge or at a reduced fee, and by consulting them about 
planning applications that affect public rights of way.  Planning officers 
should invite them to site meetings where appropriate. 

 
g. Planning officers should ensure that local plans include policies to 

incorporate public rights of way in new developments. 
 

h. Planning officers should give special consideration to developments which 
might endanger rights of way users. For example, horses might be startled by 
sudden, unexpected noise from vehicles or machinery near to rights of way. 
In the light of this, there should be a safety margin between proposed wind 
turbines and public rights of way for horse-riders or horse-drawn vehicles. 

 
i. Planning officers should beware of the use of existing rights of way as 

vehicular access routes, either as part of the development or during 
development works.  There may be important health and safety implications. 

 
j. Planning officers should consider whether to use a planning obligation 

arrangement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA 
1990) (as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991) to provide 
for new or improved public rights of way within the site. 

 
k. Highway officers should ensure that transport assessments for new 

developments take account of public rights of way in, near or affecting the site 
of a proposed development. 

 
l. Planning officers should ensure that training in planning and development 

control for elected members includes the key considerations that must be 
taken into account where the site of the development is crossed by a public 
right of way.  Training courses should include examples of those elements of 
any development which would necessarily obstruct a public right of way and 
those which would not and provide guidance on the procedures to 
accommodate a public right of way within any new development where the 
development would necessarily result in the obstruction of an existing way. 

 
4. Article 8 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 

1995 provides that development affecting a public right of way must be advertised in 
a local newspaper and by posting a notice on the site. It is recommended that, where 
such advertisement is necessary, those organisations prescribed to receive copies of 
public path orders should be consulted about the planning application as soon as 
possible after the application has been received.  This will help to ensure that 
adequate consideration to public rights of way is given before planning permission is 
decided.  It would also help to ensure that elected members give proper 
consideration to public rights of way before the planning application is decided. 

 
III. Planning guidance 
 
5. Other planning guidance should also be taken into account before planning 

permission is granted: 
 

a. Defra advice on planning permission and public rights of way 

Page 105



Planning and public rights of way 

 

3

 

“Provision of a new line for the way should be considered at the detailed 
planning stage. Wherever possible ways should be provided which pass 
through landscaped or open space areas away from vehicular traffic. They 
should be generally acceptable to the public. Estate roads should not be used 
to provide a new line for an existing right of way unless there is no other 
option.” 

 
 b. DOE Circular 5/94 (Welsh Office 16/94): Planning Out Crime 

 
“Care should be taken that well-intentioned segregation schemes for pedestrians and 
cyclists do not lead to over-isolation, especially at night.  Attractive pedestrian links 
and cycleways can be formed through amenity open space ... Wherever possible, 
footpaths and alleyways should be wide, clear of hiding places, well lit and should 
follow a direct route... sensitive and skilled design should be capable of reconciling 
the need for acceptable landscaping and the need to produce safe environments.  
Generally speaking, however, landscaping schemes should avoid creating hidden 
areas, near footpaths for example, where crime is easier to commit." 

 
c. PPG13 paras 75-77: Transport on walking, especially: 

 
“In preparing their development plans and in determining planning applications, local 
authorities should identify the network of routes and locations (including the links 
between key uses such as schools, town centres and transport interchanges) where 
the needs and safety of pedestrians will be given priority — create more direct, safe 
and secure walking routes, particularly in and around town centres and local 
neighbourhoods, and to schools and stations, to reduce the actual walking distance 
between land uses, and to public transport. 

 
Local authorities, as part of their walking strategy, should also promote walking 
through such measures as encouraging more use of public rights of way for local 
journeys and helping to promote missing links in rights of way networks. 

 
d. PPG 17 paras 17 and 32: Sport and Recreation  

 
“Local authorities should protect and enhance those parts of the rights of way 
network which might benefit open space.”  

 
“Rights of way are an important recreational facility which local authorities should 
protect and enhance. Local authorities should seek opportunities to provide better 
facilities for walkers, cyclists and horse-riders, for example by adding links to existing 
rights of way networks.” 

 
e. Encouraging walking: advice to local authorities (DfT advice, March 2000) 

 
“Carefully planned new developments within existing urban areas can help to reduce 
the need to travel by car by increasing the number of people who can easily walk to 
jobs, shops leisure and other facilities, including public transport interchanges”.  
 
f. Polices set out in structure, local and unitary development plans, and in local 
transport plans and walking and cycling strategy documents. 

 
 
 

Page 106



Planning and public rights of way 

 

4

IV Layout and design on site 
 

6. Planning officers should advise developers that wherever possible ways 
through developments should run through open, landscaped areas away from roads 
and should complement the existing network.  Narrow ways running between houses 
and enclosed by fencing should be avoided.  Natural surveillance is important - ways 
should be over-looked and free from sharp bends (which can provide blind spots and 
hiding places).  Well-overlooked ways on which activity is encouraged during the day 
and evening benefit from being regularly under surveillance from the general public.  
There should be appropriate lighting, having regard to the DOE/Countryside 
Commission publication, Lighting in the Countryside: Towards good practice.  

 
7. New routes should have formal status by adoption as highways or recorded 
as public rights of way, including those that run through public open space.  This will 
avoid problems over appropriate use and responsibility for maintenance.  However, if 
the local authority may want to amend the routes of ways running through new public 
open space, they should make a declaration under section 31(6) of the Highways Act 
1980 and/or place notices on site. 
 
8. Where ways are not enclosed, footpaths should be of a minimum width of 2 
metres and bridleways and byways 3.5 metres.  If the way is to be enclosed by 
fencing, hedging or buildings then footpaths should be of a minimum width of 4 
metres and bridleways and byways 6 metres.  If an existing path or way is to be 
retained on its existing line then planning officers should remind developers that 
widths recorded in the definitive statement apply. (If no width is recorded in the 
definitive map and statement, rights of way officers should carry out research to 
establish the width and make a definitive map modification order to record the width.)   

 
9. The needs of all members of the community need to be taken into account 
when surfacing and street furniture are being considered.  Planning officers should 
assess how use of the route might alter as a result of the development and discuss 
with highway officers (because the highway authority which will be responsible for  
maintenance) what kind of surface and safety barriers, etc should be provided. 

 
10. Planning officers and rights of way officers should consider the 
boundaries of the application site and how ways can help to integrate the 
development into the surrounding landscape.  It is important that new routes which  
go to the edge of the site join the public rights of way or highway network to avoid 
access and maintenance problems arising later. 

 
V. Before planning permission has been granted—public path order applications 
 

11. Planning officers should make clear to a developer as early as possible after 
a planning application is received that the granting of planning permission will not 
give the developer the power to divert, extinguish or alter the status of any public 
right of way which may be affected by the development. Nor it is certain that the local 
authority will allow ways to be diverted or extinguished.  
 
12. If the application is for outline permission it may only be possible to make 
sure the applicant knows he must set out his plans for public rights of way when he 
applies for detailed permission.  In view of the uncertainty of the outcome of a public 
path order application, wherever possible ways should be kept on their existing 
routes and consideration should always be given to amending site layout plans to 
accommodate the routes on their existing lines.  However, if after discussion between 
the developer and development control, landscape and rights of way officers, it is 

Page 107



Planning and public rights of way 

 

5

concluded that the development does necessitate the closure or diversion of a public 
right of way then the developer (with the landowner’s agreement if not the same 
person or company) must apply for an order under section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  

 
12. Section 257 empowers a local authority to make an order to stop-up or close 
a public right of way affected by development for which planning permission has 
been granted (or where express permission is not needed).  For the power to be 
exercisable, the authority must be satisfied that it is necessary to stop up or divert the 
way in order to allow the development to be carried out.  If discussions conclude that 
it would be desirable to divert or extinguish a route, rather than necessary to avoid its 
physical obstruction, the landowner/developer should be advised to submit an 
application under the Highways Act 1980. 

 
13. Planning officers should make clear to the applicant that a public path order 
application will not automatically succeed.  At this stage the applicant should be 
made aware in writing that if a way is disturbed or obstructed before the public path 
order procedure has been completed the developer may be prosecuted.  Local 
authorities have the power to reinstate ways in that circumstance, even if this means 
pulling buildings down. 

 
14. There is no power for the local planning authority to make an order under 
section 257 of the 1990 Act until planning permission has been granted. However 
Rights of Way Review Committee Practice Guidance Note No. 1 recommends that, 
before embarking on the formal order-making procedure, the authority should consult 
the prescribed organisations and other interested parties with a view to forestalling 
representations and objections after the order is made.  Consultations on the 
proposed change should be carried out when layout details are being discussed, 
before the grant of planning permission.  This allows time for negotiation on the 
responses received to the consultation, and gives the opportunity for changes to be 
made to proposed routes, or to the layout, before planning permission is granted. 

 
15. Ways which are shown on the list of streets but not on the definitive map 
should be treated as if they were shown on the definitive map. 

 
16. Planning officers and rights of way officers should decide the standard of 
new routes before planning permission is granted, so that the applicant is aware of 
the works he will need to carry out he is successful. Planning officers and rights of 
way officers should also discuss with the applicant the timetable for making new 
ways available; and draft the order accordingly.  The options for the order taking 
place on the ground and the certification procedure should be explained to the 
applicant—see IX below.  Additionally the need for any temporary closure or 
diversions of existing routes should be discussed. 

 
17. Good communication between the applicant and development control, 
landscape and rights of way officers should mean that the content of the proposed 
public path order and public notice can be agreed and drafted in anticipation of 
planning permission being granted.  RWRC Practice Guidance Note 4: Securing 
agreement to public path orders encourages authorities to use an explanatory 
statement to accompany Highways Act orders.  It is recommended that a similar 
statement be prepared for orders made under TCPA 1990. 

 
VI After planning permission has been granted—public path order making  
 

18. Once planning permission has been granted, the local authority can 

Page 108



Planning and public rights of way 

 

6

determine the application for a public path order.  Rights of way officers need to be 
satisfied that it is necessary to divert or extinguish a footpath, bridleway or restricted 
byway in order to enable development to be carried out in accordance with the 
planning permission.  
 
19. Developers should not assume that because planning permission has been 
granted the local authority will invariably make or confirm a public path order. This 
view is backed by case law, in particular K C Holdings (Rhyl) Ltd -v- Secretary of 
State for Wales (1989) where it was held that there is a discretion to consider the 
merits and demerits of the proposed closure of a footpath in relation to the particular 
facts that obtain.  The judge, Sir Graham Eyre QC, rejected the contention that once 
the Secretary of State was satisfied that the development could be carried out only if 
the footpath was stopped-up he was obliged to confirm the order.  And Vasilou -v- 
Secretary of State for Transport (1990) where the Court of Appeal held that the 
Secretary of State had to take into account the effect that an order would have on 
those entitled to the rights which would be extinguished by the order, especially as 
the section contained no provision for compensating those so affected.  
 
20. The order has to be made in accordance with the procedures in Schedule 14 
of the 1990 Act and substantially in the form set out in the Town and Country 
Planning (Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993.   

 
21. Planning officers and rights of way officers should ensure that s.257 of 
the 1990 Act is used only in legitimate circumstances.  The word ‘necessary’ as it is 
used in s.257 must be understood as meaning precisely that: it must be shown that 
the closure is necessary to enable the development to take place, not merely that it is 
(for example), desirable or expedient. For example, residents, usually in urban or 
suburban areas rather than in rural locations, may complain about an adjacent way 
being an intrusion on their privacy. Aware that legitimate frequent use of the way will 
make it difficult to show that the way is not needed for public use, some councils 
have granted planning permission for ‘development’ which is no more than the 
conversion of the way into garden land, and then made an order under s.257 on the 
basis that it is necessary to stop-up the way in order to enable this development to be 
carried out in accordance with the planning permission. In most cases this is no more 
than a contrivance to get a way closed and objectors have successfully opposed 
several such orders. In most cases it will be perfectly possible for a way to go 
through a garden, even if it is enclosed or cultivated. Many fields are enclosed and 
cultivated, yet they are crossed by ways. Inspectors acting on behalf of the Secretary 
of State have rejected attempts to extinguish ways by this means, and the Local 
Government Ombudsman found one council guilty of maladministration when it 
sought to use planning permission and then the s.257 procedure to convert a right of 
way into an area of garden. Where it would be expedient, for the purposes of 
preventing or reducing crime which would otherwise disrupt the life of the community, 
and where the way in question is situated in an area designated by the Secretary of 
State, special extinguishment and diversion orders can be made under ss.118B and 
119B of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

 
22. Notice has to be given stating the general effect of the order, where it can be 
inspected free of charge and that copies of it may be purchased. The notice will also 
specify a period (not fewer than 28 days from the publication of the notice) during 
which representations and objections may be made. The notice must be published in 
a local paper, displayed at the ends of the way to be affected, and served on other 
local authorities, those organisations prescribed in the Regulations, and others who 
have advised the authority of their wish to receive orders. 

 

Page 109



Planning and public rights of way 

 

7

23. Representations and objections have to be sent to the authority by the date 
appointed in the notice. An authority cannot confirm an order to which 
representations or objections have been made and not withdrawn.  At the end of the 
objection period, the authority should contact those who have made representations 
or objections to see if there are grounds for withdrawing them.  Otherwise, the order, 
together with the representations and objections, must be referred to the Planning 
Inspectorate which acts for the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs (Defra) in England and the National Assembly for Wales. The Inspectorate will 
appoint an inspector who will either hold a hearing or an inquiry, or arrange an 
exchange of written representations.   

 
24. It should be noted that the Secretary of State has no power to amend a 
planning permission so as to facilitate what objectors to an order claim to be a 
preferable diversion, and inspectors are advised not to allow objectors to seek to re-
argue the merits of the development for which planning permission has been 
granted. 
 
25. Once the order is confirmed, whether by the Secretary of State or the local 
authority, the authority must give notice in the same way that it advertised the making 
of the order. It must also give notice of a decision not to confirm. The Secretary of 
State also has power to modify an order, for example to substitute an alternative 
route for a way, but he may have to advertise his proposed modification. If the 
Secretary of State decides not to confirm an order, the way remains on its existing 
line until a further order is made and confirmed.  If the order is modified or is not 
confirmed the applicant may need to apply for an amended planning permission to 
accommodate the definitive line of the way on the site. 

 
VII. Secretary of State orders 
 

26. The Secretary of State is empowered by s.247 of the 1990 Act to make 
orders affecting rights of way for reasons similar to those available to local authorities 
under s.257. The Secretary of State's powers extend to the extinguishment or 
diversion of highways carrying vehicular rights of way (restricted byways, byways 
open to all traffic, and “ordinary” roads). In practice he rarely exercises his powers in 
relation to footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways. In Greater London the 
Secretary of State’s order-making powers have been transferred to the London 
borough councils, with the Mayor of London being involved with orders to which there 
are representations or objections. The Secretary of State retains jurisdiction on 
opposed orders made by the London borough councils under s.257. 

 
VIII What if the way has already been built over? 
 

27. From time-to-time authorised development starts, and may be completed, 
before an order to close or divert a way affected by that development has been 
made.  Is an order under s.247 or s.257 then precluded?  This question was 
considered by the Court of Appeal in Ashby & Dolby -v- the Secretary of State for the 
Environment (1980).  The court held that orders (under the Town and Country 
Planning Act) could be made so long as some of the authorised development 
remained to be carried out.  If it had been completed those powers could not be 
used.  Further to this, in Hall -v- Secretary of State for the Environment (1998), the 
developer had built a wall over a footpath and then demolished it in the hope of still 
being able to make use of s.257.  At inquiry, the inspector had taken the view that 
rebuilding the wall would constitute authorised development remaining to be carried 
out and had confirmed the order, but his decision was quashed in the High Court 
where the judge held that once development had taken place the planning 

Page 110



Planning and public rights of way 

 

8

permission relating to that part of the development had been spent—the rebuilding of 
the wall would therefore need new planning permission. 

  
IX Coming into force of orders 
 

28. An order which extinguishes a right of way under the 1990 Act is normally so 
drafted as to come into effect immediately on the order's confirmation, regardless of 
whether or not the development ever takes place. Orders which divert or otherwise 
bring into existence new rights of way, should be drafted so as to come into operation 
not immediately upon confirmation (unless the new route is already available at a 
standard which is acceptable to the local planning and highway authorities) but upon 
the subsequent certification by the order-making authority that the new route has 
been satisfactorily created. This provides an incentive for the developer to get the 
new routes made up, and prevents the order from taking effect if for any reason the 
development fails to be carried out as planned.  It also avoids a contested order 
being confirmed by an inspector and coming into operation on a date over which the 
order-making authority has no control, which could lead to the old way being closed 
before the new one has been created, thus depriving the public of the use of the way. 

 
29. If an order comes into operation other than on the date on which it was 
confirmed, the authority has to certify the order to bring it into operation.  This 
certification acts as confirmation that the terms of the order have been complied with 
in respect of the creation of the new route to the reasonable satisfaction of the order 
making authority.  In consequence, order-making authorities are recommended to 
inspect the new routes of ways before certifying an order, even if the highway 
authority has already confirmed that it is content with the standard of the new route.  
There is no prescribed means of certifying an order; this can be done by adding the 
words ‘the Foregoing Order is hereby Certified’, signed and dated by the Chief 
Executive of the order-making authority to the order. 

 
30. The coming into force of an order by certification must be advertised in a local 
paper.  Again there is no prescribed form of words but the following could be used: 
 
 [Name of order-making authority] 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 s257 
[Name of Order] 

 
In accordance with s.257 and paragraph 8 of Schedule 14 to the above Act notice is 
hereby given that on [date] [name of order making authority] certified that the 
alternative right[s] of way required under the terms of the above order have been 
created to it reasonable satisfaction.  The order has now taken effect.  [Date] 

 
It is recommended that those on whom the making and confirmation of the order was 
served are also notified by letter of the certification. 

 
30. Authorities must send copies of confirmed orders (when certified, if 
certification is involved), to Ordnance Survey.  OS reflect the effect on the ground on 
the next revision of the relevant  maps. 

 
31. The surveying authority (the county council or unitary authority, metropolitan 
district or outer London borough council) is under a duty to make, in due course, a 
definitive map modification order under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to modify the definitive map and statement of public rights of way so as to 
reflect the change made by the order.  There is no right of objection to such legal 
event orders. 

Page 111



Planning and public rights of way 

 

9

 
X Further reading  
 
Access/rights of way pages on : www.defra.gov.uk; www.wales.gov.uk; www.planning-
inspectorate.gov.uk; www.naturalengland.org.uk; www.ccw.gov.uk. 
 
www.dft.gov.uk  Transport Assessment: good practice guidance for development proposals;  
National Cycling Strategy; Local Transport Note 1/87 Getting the right balance (advice for 
local authorities on pedestrianisation and vehicle restricted areas); By Design — Urban 
design in the planning system: Towards better practice; Better Places to Live, By Design; 
Encouraging walking: advice to local authorities 
 
www.communities.gov.uk Places, Streets and Movement; Lighting in the Countryside: 
Towards good practice; Publicity for Planning Applications; Planning Out Crime; The Town 
and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 (Statutory Instrument 
1995 No 419) Article 8; Planning policy guidance 13 : Transport. 
 
Institute of Public Rights of Way Management: www.iprow.co.uk Rights of way good practice 
guide, section 4.7.7 

 
The Town and Country Planning (Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993 (Statutory 
Instrument 1993 No 10) 
 
Department of the Environment Circular 7/95 Amendment Regulations and Advice on Public 
Path Orders Stationery Office, 1995, £1.50 
 
Practice Guidance Notes 1 and 4 in this series  
 
Rights of Way: A Guide to Law and Practice, John Riddall and John Trevelyan, Open 
Spaces Society and Ramblers' Association, fourth edition, 2007.  £29.95 + postage and 
packing from 0116 254 3579 
 
www.dspace.dial.pipex.com/rwlr/ Rights of Way Law Review Section 12 (Annex - issued 
September 1998) Practice & Precedent - Section 257 Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
stopping up and diversion orders 
 
 British Horse Society Policy Statement No. 20 Wind Farms (www.bhs.org.uk; tel. 01926 
707700) 

Page 112



 
 
 
 

 

Development 
and 

Public Rights of Way 
 
Advice note for developers 
and development 
management officers 

January 2010 

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1

Page 113



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

Advice note for developers and development 
management officers 
Development and Public Rights of Way 

Purpose 

! This is an advice note for developers and their agents whose site may be affected by a 

Public Right of Way (as opposed to adopted estate paths) and also for local Planning 

Authorities and Highway Authority (Essex County Council) staff. 

! It aims to inform and advise in situations where Public Rights of Way need to be 

considered and taken account of where development proposals impinge upon them. 

! This note has been prepared by the Definitive Map Service in the Essex County 

Council’s Environment Sustainability Highways Directorate.  The Definitive Map 

Service is responsible for maintaining and updating the Definitive Map of Public 

Rights of Way. 

Background 

! Public path networks form an integral part of any large development by providing a 

functional and sustainable link to shops, services, schools and also for recreation by 

linking urban areas with the countryside. In spite of being a material consideration in 

the determination of planning applications, historically public rights of way have often 

been disregarded in the development process, giving rise to a whole range of 

problems later on in the process, including the blighting of properties on completion.  

This document aims to rectify this problem. 

! Public Rights of Way are recorded on the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way, which 

is a legal document.  This document records footpaths, bridleways and byways and 

restricted byways.  Footpaths are for use by walkers; bridleways by walkers, horse 

riders and pedal cyclists; byways being ways open to vehicular traffic but used by the 

public mainly as footpaths and bridleways; and restricted byways, over which the 

public have limited byway rights. 

! Information recorded in the Definitive Map and Statement is conclusive evidence in 

law as to position, status, width and limitations or conditions. 

2
Page 114



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

! This document draws on DEFRA Circulars 01/09`Rights of Way`, 5/94`Planning out 

Crime`, The Rights of Way Act 1990 and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

! A contact list for relevant officers is given at the end of this document. 

Checking the Definitive Map from the start of the development process 

! The overlap between the planning process and public path order process has been 

illustrated in the flow diagram contained in Appendix 1 of this note.  (The diagram 

refers to outline permissions where there are reserved matters but is equally 

applicable where there is full planning permission with conditions). 

! It is crucial that Public Rights of Way are considered from the very start of a proposed 

development.  If this is overlooked, then Public Rights of Way issues can result in very 

significant delays later on and even render properties unsaleable.  Legal powers do 

exist to demolish buildings that obstruct Public Rights of Way. On development 

construction sites, where buildings are in the construction phase but not occupied, 

use of these powers by the highway authority cannot be ruled out. 

! Prior to submission of the planning application it is essential that you ask to view the 

Definitive Map with the relevant Borough/ District/County Officer who will also offer 

specific advice.   There may, for example, be claimed paths not marked on the map 

that could affect the development site. A record of formal claims is maintained at 

County Hall, Chelmsford and can be viewed on the County Council Public Rights of 

Way website.  

! Even for developments that do not require planning permission in respect of 

agricultural units, it is equally essential that the Definitive Map is viewed prior to 

commencement. Many problems have arisen in the past by irrigation reservoirs being 

constructed across the Definitive routes of paths because the Definitive Map was not 

viewed at the outset. 

! Planning permission alone does not give the applicant the right to interfere, obstruct 

or divert a Public Right of Way. A development, insofar as it affects a Public Right of 

Way, should not be started prior to the issue of a Public Path Order and the right of 

way must be kept open and unaltered for public use, unless or until the necessary 

public path order has come into effect. This advice is paramount and should be 

included as a standard informative on planning consultation recommendations and 

set out in the model conditions. 

! Specimen wording on the format/content of such recommendations is available from 

the Definitive Map Service. 

3
Page 115



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

! At the respective Outline and Reserved Matters stages of the planning process, full 

consideration must be given to how an amendment to the development layout may 

impact on a public path. The Definitive Map Service/Area Public Rights of Way must 

therefore be consulted when Reserved Matters arise or when they are subject to 

revision. 

Current paths 

! The Highways Act 1980 places a responsibility on all Councils to protect Public Rights 

of Way.  Public Rights of Way are also a material consideration in the determination of 

any planning application. 

! Circular 01/09 advises that paths should be retained on their existing routes wherever 

possible. Equally, the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 section 257 states that 

diversions should only be made if it is considered that it is `necessary to do so to 

enable development to be carried out` . There is every expectation therefore that the 

existing Public Right of Way should stay where it is, particularly in large development 

sites, where the layout of the new build should be designed to accommodate the path 

alignment. 

! `Footway` - a frequently misused and misunderstood term means the pavement/path 

running along the side of a carriageway over which the public have a right of way on 

foot only. It is not a footpath. A footway is essentially a part of a carriageway and is 

therefore not a highway in its own right. 

! If however a diversion is essential, then the alternative route should not be on estate 

roads and paths unless there is no other option. It is vital that developers liaise with 

local planning officers and Public Rights of Way staff at an early stage in order to avoid 

delay at a later stage in the process. 

! Circular 01/09 further advises that the grant of planning permission does not entitle 

developers to obstruct a Public Right of Way. Additionally, the requirement to keep a 

Public Right of Way open for public use will preclude the developer from using the 

existing footpath, bridleway or restricted byway as a vehicular access to the site 

unless there are existing additional private rights.  In a case where two or three 

houses, for example, already benefit from access along a public path and an 

application is made for an existing dwelling, it would be necessary to consider the 

material change in impact in terms of increased vehicular movement, etc.  

! Any necessary diversion should improve the route, although construction of a Public 

Right of Way, no matter its status, would normally be in accordance with standardised 

4
Page 116



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

specifications as advised by the County Council’s Area Highway Managers.  The 

development may also provide the opportunity for the creation of new paths to 

provide missing links to achieve an overall improvement in the network.  Such 

opportunities will always be pursued in consideration of a planning application and 

the new path dedicated to form part of the Definitive Map, as opposed to an informal 

route.  The last section of this document deals specifically with the diversions/closure 

procedure. 

! At the planning application stage if a Public Right of Way is likely to be affected, this 

must be advertised on site as a material consideration under the Town and Country 

Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 (SI 1995/419). A standard 

notice is being prepared for use across the whole of the County of Essex, (subject to 

recommendation by EPOA).  

Acceptable standards for existing and new Public Rights of Way 

! All new Public Rights of Way must be designed to meet their intended use and 

minimise risk of crime and misuse.  Accommodation of existing public paths into a 

development layout must not result in those routes becoming enclosed alleyway 

paths and new buildings should be designed accordingly to provide surveillance/ 

policing of the way. 

! New and diverted public paths should be inclusive of Secured by Design principles 

taking into account the importance of natural surveillance which may be used as a 

material consideration in refusing planning permission and a public path order.  The 

Essex Design Guide provides specific guidance on standards. (Link to the Essex 

Design Initiative website:www.the-edi.co.uk and then click on publications) 

! Prior to planning permission being granted, the highway authority (relevant officers 

from the Area Highways Office and Definitive Map Service) will check the site and 

make recommendations and also suggest appropriate conditions relating to the 

affected public paths and the proposed alternative routes. Advice will also be given 

about required construction specifications. 

! As a matter of general principle, unbound/unsurfaced footpaths in residential areas 

are not acceptable, whilst bridleways should be surfaced appropriately for horse and 

cycle use. 

! The required width for a new/diverted footpath is 2 metres, which is Essex County 

Council policy.  A width of 3 metres is required for a bridleway. 

5
Page 117



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

! Paths should have a longitudinal gradient not steeper than 1 in 20 and cross gradient 

not steeper than 1 in 40.  Steps should be avoided. 

! No barriers for example gates, chicanes should be erected without the prior consent 

of the Highway Authority. In a new development area, there would be no justification 

for inclusion of stiles on a diversion or an newly created route or created route, in the 

interests of access for all. 

Effect on existing paths near the development site 

! New housing provision can lead to significant additional use of existing Public Rights 

of Way near the development site.  This additional intensive use can cause problems 

if such Public Rights of Way are not appropriately surfaced and drained. 

! The relevant planning authority in consultation with the Highway Authority will assess 

the impact of the development.  Where it is significant, it may seek a financial 

contribution from developers to ensure that existing Public Rights of Way in adjoining 

urban fringe areas are appropriately upgraded to accommodate the additional use, 

dependent upon status and ownership of the Public Rights of Way and the agreement 

of any third party owners. Any contributions to upgrade a public path would only be 

sought from the developer where it is known that the upgrade is achievable and 

where the third party owner(s) are in full agreement.  Such improvements, where 

appropriate, may be secured by a Section 106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Agreement (which can include a public path creation agreement) or by a suitably 

worded condition where appropriate. Specimen clauses for insertion to secure Public 

Rights of Way as part of a development scheme are available from the Definitive Map 

Service. 

! In adjoining rural areas, this improvement would be directed to the additional 

provision of paths – for example, bridleway creation – as opposed to surface 

treatment.  It is not the intention that rural Public Rights of Way should necessarily be 

hard surfaced. 

Public Path Orders 

Public Rights of Way can only be diverted or closed by a Legal Order.  Such Orders are made 

mainly under Section 257 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 and some others under 

Section 261 of the 1990 Act for the temporary stopping up of highways for mineral workings.   

These Orders are subject to a full public consultation process and follow a separate 

application process to that required for planning consent. The grant of planning consent or the 

imposition of a planning condition does not stop up a highway.  In other words, it is not 

6
Page 118



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

possible to grant planning permission conditional on securing a Public Path Order. However, 

where it appears necessary for an application to be made for a Public Path Order, the 

developer will be alerted to this by way of an Informative from the relevant Planning Authority. 

The costs associated with the legal process of a Public Path Order are the responsibility of the 

developer.  

! Public Path Orders do take considerable time to complete due to the legal processes 

involved.  All Orders involve consultation with Rights of Way user groups and the 

public at large via notices on site and in the press.  

! Ordinarily application for an order under the Planning Act powers will be made to the 

District or Borough Council as the Local Planning Authority, other than matters relating 

to mineral extraction and waste, in which case the County Council will be the relevant 

Order making authority. 

! Allow for a minimum time period of at least 7/8 months from date of application.  If 

there are unresolved objections, the procedure can then take up to 9/10 months or 

more, as the Order must be determined by the Secretary of State. 

! There can never be a guarantee that any diversion proposal will be successful, even 

though planning permission has been granted.  This is why early preparation and 

informal consultation is essential and discussion about a diversion should take place 

at the same time the planning application is being prepared. 

! All existing Public Rights of Way across a development site must be kept clear until an 

Order becomes operative by the diversion route being made available. 

! There should never be a need to close a public path without the agreed alternative 

route being provided. The onus is on the developer to accommodate the public path 

in the development layout. 

! Where a path is to be retained on its Definitive line, it must not be disturbed whilst the 

development takes place.  In limited circumstances it may be possible to secure a 

temporary closure under powers other than the Planning Act on safety grounds, but 

again the Definitive route must be capable of being reinstated by the expiry date of 

the Order and a statutory consultation process is involved. 

! Circular 01/09 advises that where the development affecting a way has been 

completed before an order to divert or extinguish the way has been confirmed, the 

Planning Act powers cannot be used to divert the path.  It is then necessary to resort 

to trying to secure a diversion under Highways Act 1980 powers, under which it can be 

7
Page 119



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

considerably more difficult to secure a diversion.  Development is regarded as 

completed if the work remaining to be carried out is minimal. 

! Section 261 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 makes provision for temporary 

diversions, which is particularly relevant to mineral extraction sites. Such temporary 

diversions may be long term in nature – 20 or 30 years for example – but the Original 

Definitive line must be restored at the end of the process. 

8
Page 120



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

How can Public Rights of Way officers help? 

! Officers can advise on the existence and status of definitive Public Rights of Way 

across a development site, how they should be best deal with, and the relevant 

procedures to follow. 

Contacts 

Further information and advice on any aspect of Development and Public Rights of Way can be 

obtained by contacting the Definitive Map Service, Environment, Sustainability and Highways 

at County Hall Chelmsford on 01245 437563 or by email: garry.white@essex.gov.uk. 

For developers, there will be occasions where there will be a need to discuss issues on site. A 

list of contact details for the respective areas of the county is included below. Local Public 

Rights of Way officers will have detailed knowledge on Public Rights of Way in their area and 

would be pleased to provide any guidance as required. 

Mid Area Highways Office (covering Braintree, Chelmsford and Maldon districts)  

Contact: highways.midarea@essex.gov.uk  

Tel: (01245) 240000 

East Area Highways Office (covering Colchester and Tendring districts)  

Contact: highways.eastarea@essex.gov.uk 

Tel: (01206) 838600 

West Area Highways Office (covering Brentwood, Epping, Harlow and Uttlesford districts)  

Contact: highways.westarea@essex.gov.uk 

Tel: (01277) 642500 

South Area Highways Office (covering Castle Point, Basildon and Rochford districts)  

Contact: highways.southarea@essex.gov.uk 

Tel: (01268) 297500 

Key Reference Documents 

! Rights of Way Circular 01/09 (available on the Defra website at 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/wildlife-countryside/issues/public/index.htm 

! Essex Design Guide – ECC 

! Estate Road Construction Manual – ECC 

! Rights of Way Improvement Plan – ECC ( due for publication shortly – website link to be 
advised) 

9
Page 121



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

Appendix 1 
Checking planning applications for Public Rights of Way (PROW) implications and process for 

preparing Public Path Orders made under 
Section 257 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Process Diagram 

Local planning authority refers planning 

application to area highways office 

Development Management Officer 
carries out initial assessment of 
application against checklist, 

inclusive of Prow  

Identification of PRoW via Local Land 
Charge Searches 

Formal Referral To 

Questions on planning application - 
are there PRoWs within or adjacent to 
the site?  Check the Definitive Map of 
Public Rights of Way  

Area Prow Officer – if complex 
or strategic PROW issues – 
refer to DMS team 

Liaison 
with 

DC Officer 

Is application plan of 
sufficient accuracy to 
assess implementations 
for PRoW?  

Initiate dialogue with developer or agent 

where Rights of Way issue identified 

Identification of claimed paths 
across site (see Circ 01/09 & S.53 
WCSA 1981) 

Material Consideration  
Circ 01/09 

Development affecting 
PRoW must be 
advertised (T&CP order 

1995 SI 1995/419) 

Can a new line be provided which would be 
acceptable to the public? 

(see circ 01/09 – avoidance of estate roads where 
possible). 

Alert developer to legal procedures -Onus must be to accommodate the 
Definitive route wherever possible - 
diversion should be a last resort where 
development layout cannot be alteredOptions 

PROW = Public Rights of Way 
DMS = Definitive Map Service at County Hall 
S of S = Secretary of State 

10
Page 122



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

Seek Planning Agreement altering 
Pr0w or adding to the existing 

network 
 

(ie improvement or planning gain) 
Particularly important for new 
housing developments where new 
path links are required. Land must 
be dedicated by landowner for use 
as public paths. 

Accommodate definitive line within development 
layout.  If not possible, agree suitable diversion 

within the development site 

Objection to Planning 
Application  

Informal consultation with 
interested parties 

(potential objections may cause 

developer to change his plans) 

Possible objections: 
 
a. If path is well used and 

no suitable good 
alternative – 
recommend LPA to 
refuse application. 

b. Even where an 
alternative path may 
already exist, the right 
of way through 
development site may 
still be needed. 

c. PRoW incorporated into 
estate roads (circ01/09) 
is not desirable) 
 
(Could lead to planning 
proposals being 
modified) 

Alternative/new route(s) 
Established in principle 

Outline planning permission granted Master Plan 
approved where applicable 

(Plan sets out the site and the planning boundary) A standard informative must 
be included on the planning 
permission -   works across 
the Definitive line of the 
path cannot commence 
unless or until the diversion 
order has come into effect 

Developer prepares and submits formal application for 
Public Path Order – S.247, 257 OR 261 T&CP 1990  

(upon receipt of application draft Order can be 

prepared in anticipation of detailed planning consent) Advice 
 
LPA should not attach a 
condition to the 
permission that a public 
path order must be 
obtained before 
development commences 
SofS takes the view that 
such a condition is 
unnecessary since the 
statutory process has to be 
followed 

Detailed Planning Approval 
 
NB Reserved Matters stage – minor changes to the 
new build could fundamentally change the amenity 
of a public right of way. ECC Highway must therefore 

be consulted at the Reserved Matters stage

11
Page 123



Advice note for developers and development management officers 

12

Note: 
Granting of consent does not give 
entitlement to interfere with Public 
Rights of Way. 

Interim Period 
Use of Road Traffic Regulation 
Act Orders 1984 

 
Only to be used exceptionally 
in the interest of public safety 

where there are legitimate 
works. 

 
Note: 
Must not be used to 
facilitate start of works 

Public Path Order Made 

No Objections Objections made and not 
withdrawn 

 
Refer to S of S 
a. Written reps/hearing 
b. Public Inquiry. 
 
 
 
Confirmed with or without 
modification by Sof S 
 
 

Second modification 

 

Order Confirmed and becomes 
operative following confirmation 

and certification 

Confirm order without 
modification 

Development undertaken and path 
formally diverted in accordance 

with terms of the order 

Consult with highway 
authority re construction 

standards 

Diversion incorporated into the 
Definitive Map of Public Rights Of 

Way 

Page 124


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	8 Annual Report 2012-13
	9 Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment: The national survey on people and the natural environment
	10 Update from Regional Local Access Forum Chair's Meeting
	11 Discussion - How to consider planning applications and co-ordinate responses
	Development of Rights of Way


